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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present to our shareholders the annual report
of China Pipe Group Limited (formerly known as Softpower
International Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

During the year, the Group disposed its biomass pellet fuel
products segment, and its result presented as discontinued
operation. The result of trading of pipes and fittings, our core
business is still presented as continuing operation.

The Group’'s revenue from continuing operation of about
HK$682.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$497.3 million), representing an increase of 37.2% as
compared to last year. The gross profit margin from continuing
operation was approximately 29.7% for the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: 28.3%). The profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company from continuing and discontinued
operations was HK$62.3 million for the year under review
(2020: HK$20.2 million), representing a significant increase of
approximately 208.4% over last year. Basic earnings per share
from continuing operation was HK4.64 cents (2020: HK2.30
cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors of the Company does not recommend a
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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Chairman’s Statement
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BUSINESS REVIEW

It has been two years since the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic.
The operating environment is still difficult as the new COVID-19
variants spread. Despite the challenges and uncertainties brought
by COVID-19, we were fortunate that the impact of COVID-19
on our business was relatively lower. In general, the spread of
COVID-19 in Hong Kong was contained in 2021. We saw a
gradual recovery in economic activities during the year under
review. Our business operation gradually normalised during this
period.

Despite the difficult business environment, the Group’s revenue
increased from HK$497.3 million in 2020 to HK$682.2 million
in 2021. The Group recorded a net profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company HK$62.3 million, a substantial increase of
208.4% over HK$20.2 million in the same period of 2020. During
the year under review, the Group remained on track to focus on
the core business of trading of pipe and fitting.

For the year under review, the Group continued to grow both
revenue and profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
despite the challenges of COVID-19. The Group continued to reap
the benefits from the projects secured in last year such as the third
runway of Hong Kong International Airport and Tuen Mun Area
54 public housing project. Driven by the Hong Kong Government’s
commitment to supply more public housing, the demand for our
pipes and fittings recorded an uplift in its revenue by 37.2% in
2021. In addition, there was a gradual recovery in the construction
sector of Hong Kong in 2021. The contractors had to expedite the
progress of the projects which were delayed. As a result, this led
to the increase in supplying of pipes and fittings to our customers
to accelerate the progress of ongoing projects which were delayed
last year.

It was heartening to see strong performance in 2021, maintaining
healthy growth in both revenue and results. These encouraging
results would not be achieved without the contribution from our
management and staff. Nonetheless, we will continue to operate
in a very competitive and challenging environment such as the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the higher operating costs and raw
material prices. These will put strong pressure on our profit margin
in the coming year.

The Group maintained adequate financial liquidity. In the face of
uncertainties and competitive environment, it is prudent for us to
maintain sufficient liquidity to meet working capital and cashflow
requirements.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the new COVID-19 variant will impact the overall
economy and we expect the year ahead to remain challenging.
While the Group remains cautiously optimistic for the coming
year of 2022, we will continue to take a prudent approach which
is important to weather the uncertain times ahead. We will stay
vigilant and continue to pay close attention to the impact of
COVID-19. We will take the necessary measures to protect the
health and safety of our staff to minimise impact to our business
operations.

The Group remains focused in improving our customer service.
The Group is committed to invest more resources to streamline
its operation by leveraging on digitisation and technologies to
enhance our competitiveness and efficiency. We are hopeful
that the new ERP system will be completed this year to increase
our staff's efficiency and serve our customers better. Though we
encounter the present difficult operating environment, we are
optimistic about the prospects of pipes and fittings business in
Hong Kong and Macau as the public and private construction
sectors will continue to be supported by the infrastructure and
housing demand in the region.

APPRECIATION

In closing, we thank our shareholders, customers, suppliers
and banks for their continuous support and confidence in the
Group. | would also like to thank our directors, management
team and employees for their commendable efforts and valuable
contribution to the Group over the years. With our concerted
efforts, we can deliver both revenue and profit growth.

Lai Fulin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Mission and Strategy
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The business of the Group was commenced in 1949 as a pipe’s
retail shop. Now the Group has developed into a sizeable
company and become a listed company in the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 21 December 2000. We
root in Hong Kong 72 years and are the mainstay of the industry.

The principal business of the Group is the importing and selling
of a comprehensive range of pipes, fittings and other related
accessories of different materials, applications and brand names in
Hong Kong by Bun Kee (International) Limited (“Bun Kee"). Sales
of the Group's products are conducted either by wholesale or
retail sale. We offered quality goods storage and logistic services
for local main contractors and landlords. Throughout the years,
the Group has supplied quality piping materials to many landmark
projects in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China.

The mission of the Group is to provide high quality products to
the customers and serve with value-added and excellent customer
services.

In attaining the above, we provide “one-stop-shop” platform that
provides high quality and a variety of pipes and fittings that readily
available to our customers in ways that meet their needs and

exceed their expectations.

Whenever you think pipes and fittings, think Bun Kee.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

Our Business

The Group is a leading provider to the construction sector offering
a wide range of pipe (including copper tube, ductile iron and
steel pipes) related products, fittings, comprehensive services
and solutions to the contractors, designers, consultants and
government agencies in Hong Kong and Macau.

The Group's core business lies with our flagship subsidiary, Bun
Kee (International) Limited, a well-established company with a
long history. Starting from a small retail shop, we grew up to a
company listed in Hong Kong. We have become one-stop supplier
of a comprehensive range of pipes and fittings. The Group has
built a good reputation for the pipes and fittings business in Hong
Kong and Macau. We have established stable major customer and
supplier bases over the years.

Business Review

The year 2021 has marked another challenging year. The threat of
COVID-19 variants brought a profound impact on the economic
environment in Hong Kong. While the Group is fortunate to grow
in revenue and profit for the year under review, we continue to
face the difficult business environment brought by the COVID-19
pandemic.

Though we faced operational challenges due to the surge in raw
material prices and the occasional supply chain disruptions caused
by the pandemic, we managed to push ahead to supply our
products to our customers.

The Group's revenue from continuing operation increased by
37.2% to HK$682.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: HK$497.3 million). The profit attributable to equity
shareholders from continuing and discontinued operations was
HK$62.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$20.2 million), representing an increase of 208.4%. The
increase in revenue was underpinned by the backlogs from pre-
pandemic projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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For the year under review, other gains, net from continuing
operation were about HK$2.1 million (2020: HK$9.5 million),
representing a decrease of HK$7.4 million. The decrease was
mainly due to the lack of subsidies granted from the Hong Kong
Government under the Anti-epidemic Fund and the Macau
Government in 2021.

The Group’s selling and distribution costs from continuing
operation increased by 30.1% year-on-year from HK$16.6 million
in 2020 to HK$21.6 million in 2021. The increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in consultancy fees, sales commission,
promotion expenses, transportation costs and motor vehicles
running expenses in tandem with the increase in sales. The
Group’s general and administrative expenses from continuing
operation amounted to approximately HK$108.6 million in 2021
(2020: HK$101.0 million), representing an increase of about 7.5%
year-on-year. The increase was mainly due to the increase in staff
costs and short-term and low-value lease expenses.

Finance costs from continuing operation mainly consisted of the
interest expenses on bank borrowings and lease liabilities. During
the year, the finance costs were HK$5.8 million (2020: HK$6.9
million), representing a decrease by about 15.9% over last year.
Such decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in interest
on lease liabilities and early settlement of trust receipt loans and
lower interest rates. Finance income which was mainly from a loan
to a related party, decreased by 44.6% from HK$8.3 million in
2020 to HK$4.6 million in 2021 as the downward adjustment of
the interest rate of the related party from August 2020. As finance
costs outpaced income, we recorded net finance costs of HK$1.2
million (2020: a net finance income of HK$1.4 million).

OUTLOOK

Despite the present pandemic situation, we remain confident that
we will be able to navigate this unprecedented challenge. We wiill
continue to implement cost-effective strategies and implement
stronger digital and data management. We will continue to steer
and manage our operation and financial position prudently.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2021, the cash and bank balances of the
Group were approximately HK$208.1 million (2020: HK$225.1
million) including pledged bank deposits of approximately
HK$36.0 million (2020: HK$36.0 million). Basically the Group’s
working capital requirement has been financed by its internal
resources. The funds generated from operations and the available
banking facilities will enable the Group to meet its future working
capital requirements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities for trade finance of approximately HK$262.3 million
(2020: HK$267.3 million), approximately HK$61.8 million (2020:
HK$61.0 million) was utilised. The Group's total borrowings stood
at approximately HK$56.0 million (2020: HK$57.0 million), the
entire amount of borrowings for both years end will mature within
one year.

The entire amount of borrowings outstanding as at 31 December
2021 was approximately HK$56.0 million (2020: HK$57.0 million).
18% (2020: 37%) and 82% (2020: 63%) of borrowings were
subject to floating and fixed rates respectively.

The gearing ratio as measured by total bank borrowings to total
equity was approximately 8.9% as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
10.2%).

As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, the entire amount of the
Group's borrowings was denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group conducts its business transactions mainly in Hong Kong
dollar, Macau Pataca, Renminbi and United States dollar. In order
to manage foreign exchange risk, the Group has been closely
monitoring its foreign currency exposure and will arrange for any
hedging facilities if necessary.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, certain bank deposits and certificate of
deposit held by subsidiaries of the Group with aggregate carrying
amounts of approximately HK$36.0 million (2020: HK$36.0
million) and HK$10.0 million (2020: HK$10.0 million) respectively
were pledged to banks for banking facilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2020 and 2021.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had capital commitments of
HK$0.56 million (2020: HK$1.8 million) in respect of Enterprise
Resources Planning system contracted for but not provided for in
consolidated financial statements.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 148
employees (2020: 168). Total employee benefit expenses for
the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$73.1
million (2020: HK$64.6 million).

Remuneration policy is reviewed annually and certain staff
members are entitled to sales commission. In addition to the basic
salaries and contributions to the mandatory provident fund, the
Group also pays discretionary bonus and provides staff with other
benefits including medical scheme to the employees in Hong
Kong. The Group contributes to an employee pension scheme
established by the PRC Government which undertakes to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired
employees of the Group in Mainland China. The Group adopted a
share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to motivate the eligible directors and employees of the
Group in recognition of their contributions to the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lai Fulin, aged 56, acted as an Executive Director of the
Company from October 2009 to May 2017 and continued to sit
on the senior management team of the Group thereafter. Mr.
Lai rejoined the Board as an Executive Director of the Company
on 27 November 2017 and was appointed as the Chairman of
the Board with effect from 30 March 2018. He is also a member
of the Chairman of Nomination Committee and a member of
Remuneration Committee of the Company. In addition, Mr. Lai
is the Head of Production & Purchasing of the Group and holds
directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lai has
over 20 years of experience in the banking sector, investment
management and general management of companies in China.
Mr. Lai worked in the Bank of China in Shenzhen from 1986 to
2001. From 1995 to 2001, he was the deputy general manager
of a subsidiary of Bank of China dealing with businesses in the
securities industry. During the period from 2002 to 2008, Mr. Lai
was the general manager of FYITERT HEEXEBRAF]
(Shenzhen Huaao Guanli Technologies Company Limited*). Mr.
Lai holds a certificate of graduation in Chinese Language from &
JIIZ & EB7 (Shenzhen Institute of Education*).

Mr. Lai is the younger brother of Mr. Lai Guanglin, the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

*  For identification purpose only

Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng, aged 57, was appointed as Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company in May 2009.
Mr. Yu is responsible for managing overall daily operations of
the Group and the implementation of the Group’s development
strategies.

Mr. Yu has over 20 years of experience in investment
management, investment banking and general management of
listed companies. Mr. Yu began his career at Mackenzie Financial
Corporation in Toronto, Canada as an investment analyst in 1989
and since then, he has served several major financial corporations
including J.P. Morgan, Deutsche Bank and CITIC Capital. In
addition to his vast investment banking and management
experience, Mr. Yu has also managed listed companies such
as New World Cyberbase Limited and Asia Logistics Holdings
Limited in Hong Kong. During his past career, Mr. Yu has focused
on direct investment and mergers and acquisitions activities in
sectors including construction materials, infrastructure, energy,
technologies, media and financial services.

HFEARBEEANERZ B

HITES
BEBLTE S6 WZTEZTNAFTAZE
—E—tFRAPMABEEARRRZHITE
T UREBRESEBRINAEB ZSRE
BEAEBEK BLER_Z—tF+—A
Z+tEtHBRXMAESE AR RAGWITE
£ - WR-_E-NF=A=+tHEZTAE
EEF c WHAARFIREEESERR
FTMNEEENE - I BEERERKEE
ENRBIHBERETARARARE THEA G
ZEE -RBIAEAERRMIRITE  KEER
RAHEEBHTMABER - T8 - BILE
R—NAN\ANFE_EZT—FHEEERNPE
BITRINTRT - R — NN AFE_ZTZT—
FHEIAE - HEHERBRRITE N Z2ESF AR
FBEEE—R R —_F2 2T /)/\F
Hiff - BAEERTRIIMERT HRHEEE
ERARBLIE— - BEERBRIHEB
BT XRIREREFE -

FESCE AN E] 2 R AR R Lai Guanglindt A&
pd R

MEESRE 575 R-FETNFRARZR
ERARRBATEEREFENTE - oLt
BEEEASEEBRAREFEINTARHE
HY R R RS o

BLETEREER  RERTRLETREE
BHEREB20FLSR - 1 ER— NN
FEINAINEKXZfm%Mackenzie Financial
Corporation - AR E S ATED 2 B4 E -
1% - RS RBRERKRE  EEERITR
FEEASELHE T ECRIKE - RERER
TREEERTEREEE Z&BIN - a1k
A PN E B T I REIE E AR A A K an
VRERERARSEETEE LTARE - K
BABEEEY e ENEN - A5
JHE BB - B BERERIRBEITE
CEERE RO o

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 % #



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ERMARRBEANRZ R E

Mr. Yu holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in English Literature from
the Beijing Foreign Studies University, a Master of arts degree in
Education from the University of Toronto and a master’s degree
in business administration from the University of Western Ontario,
Canada.

Mr. Yu is a director of King Jade Holdings Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company which has an interest in the shares of
the Company that is required to be disclosed under Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson, aged 54, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in February
2009. He is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and member of Australia
CPA and Australian Institute of Banking and Finance. He holds a
master of commerce degree, specializing in banking and finance
from the University of New South Wales. With more than 20 years
of experience in PricewaterhouseCoopers and Ernst and Young,
Mr. Wong specializes in the area of auditing banks and listed
companies. Mr. Wong is the chief financial officer of CA Cultural
Technology Group Limited (formerly known as China Animation
Characters Company Limited) (Stock code: 1566, a company
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited “HKSE")
and serving as independent non-executive director of Ping An
Securities Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock code: 231, a company
listed on HKSE) and PT International Development Corporation
Limited (Stock code: 372, a company listed on HKSE).

Mr. Chen Wei Wen, aged 53, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in April 2010. He is also
a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Chen holds
a Bachelor of Business (Accounting) from Monash University,
Australia. Mr. Chen worked as a general manager of Guangzhou
Futian Trading Company Ltd (EM T ERE S ERAF]) from
1997 to 2005. Since November 2004, Mr. Chen was appointed as
chief operating officer of Guangzhou Kanxin Polymer Technology
Co., Ltd (EMTELED FEHEARR A A which is an affiliated
company of Guangzhou Futian Trading Company Ltd (E/NH=E
WNE S HBERZAF]). Mr. Chen was also appointed as director and
general manager of Fuda Enterprises Limited (& MZEREARE D
7)) since February 1998.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Guan Zhigiang, aged 59, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in September 2016.
He is also the Chairman of Remuneration Committee, a
member of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr. Guan holds a bachelor of Agronomy from
Huazhong Agricultural University and a master degree in business
administration from Southwestern University of Finance. During
the period from 1984 to 1996, Mr. Guan had successively worked
in the Ministry of Agriculture of the People’s Republic of China
and the State Planning Commission. He subsequently joined
the Agricultural Development Bank of China and held various
senior management positions and was granted a qualification of
senior economist from the bank. From February 2002 to March
2003, Mr. Guan served as the general manager in New China
Life Insurance Company Ltd, Jinan branch. From March 2003
to November 2005, he worked in Yeland Group Co. Ltd. (now
known as HNA Investment Group Co., Ltd), a company listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and was appointed as the chairman
of its group’s real estate company. Since 2005, Mr. Guan has
established an investment advisory firm and invested in a number
of enterprises which engaged in various fields including mining,
energy and biotechnology, etc., and acted as a director in those
enterprises. Mr. Guan is currently the vice chairman of 1T H{%
¥R AR A (Zhejiang Ecopro Biotech Company, Ltd.*) and
a director of ZERMRITFEREIRXYLEFEBR A A (Huoerguosi
Poly Entertainment Culture Industry Co., Ltd*). He has extensive
experience in finance, investment and corporate management.

*  For identification purpose only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chow Wai Koon, Timothy, aged 52, was appointed as
Chief Operating Officer of the Company in January 2015. Mr.
Chow is responsible for directing, administering and co-ordinating
the operational activities of the Group. He is also responsible for
recommending and developing strategies, goals and policies of
the Group.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chow devoted almost 20 years
to Hewlett-Packard group (“HP"), a leading global IT provider of
products, technologies, software, solutions and services. While at
HP, Mr. Chow held several senior positions in sales, marketing,
business planning and finance in the Asia Pacific region including
China, Australia and Singapore.

Mr. Chow has extensive experience in sales and marketing in
the Asia Pacific region, particularly China, across consumer,
commercial and enterprise customers. In addition, Mr. Chow
has robust knowledge of end-to-end systems from research
and development, manufacturing and distribution to channel,
communication and customer support.

Mr. Chow holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration
from the Macquarie Graduate School of Management, Australia,
and a Bachelor’s Degree of Accountancy from the Nanyang
Technological University, Singapore.

Mr. Cheng Siu Kwan, aged 52, joined the Company as the
Financial Controller in December 2012 and has been appointed
as the Company Secretary of the Company in February 2013.
Mr. Cheng is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Cheng held various finance positions at a number of companies
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and has over
27 years of experience in auditing, finance and accounting.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ku Chun Ming, aged 56, joined the Group in 1993
and currently is the Deputy Managing Director of Bun Kee
(International) Limited, the pipe trading subsidiary of the Group.
Mr. Ku is mainly responsible for the leadership, supervision and
long-term business development of pipes and fittings of the
Company. He has over 35 years of extensive experience in sales
and marketing activities.

Mr. Lai Kui Chung, aged 64, joined the Group in 1979 and is
the Warehouse Director of the pipe trading subsidiary, Bun Kee
(International) Limited. Mr. Lai is responsible for the warehouse
and transportation activities of the Group. He has over 42 years
of experience in supervising warehouse and transportation
operations. Mr. Lai holds a Certificate in Store Supervision from a
technical institute.
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Corporate Governance Report
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China Pipe Group Limited (the “Company”) is committed to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance. The board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and management
maintain and enhance the policies and practices of the Company
on a timely, transparent, effective and reasonable manner, so as
to maintain good, solid and reasonable corporate governance. The
Company believes that good corporate governance is not only in
the interest of shareholders and investors but also in the interest
of the Company. The Company will continue to raise the standard
to formalize the best practice of corporate governance as far as
we could.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code") as stated in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout
the year ended 31 December 2021.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rule (the “Model Code”). Having made specific
enquiry with the directors of the Company (“Directors”), all
Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five Directors,
including two executive Directors, Mr. Lai Fulin (the Chairman
of the Board) and Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng (the Chief Executive
Officer); and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson, Mr. Chen Wei Wen and Mr. Guan
Zhigiang, one of whom namely, Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson
has appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise.
Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “"BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT" of this Annual Report.

Throughout the year, the Board has at least one-third in number

of its members comprising independent non-executive Directors
under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
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Each of the non-executive Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) has entered into a service contract with
the Company and appointed for a term of one year. All Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the bye-laws
of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the independent
non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that they are
independent.

To the best knowledge of the Company, except that Mr. Lai Fulin is
the younger brother of Mr. Lai Guanglin, a substantial shareholder
of the Company, there is no relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) among
members of the Board.

The Board has balance of skills, knowledge and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business and to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The Board
membership is covered by professionally qualified and widely
experienced personnel to bring in valuable contributions and
different professional advices and consultancy for development of
the Company. All Directors have separate and independent access
to the advice and services of the senior management and the
company secretary with a view to ensuring the board procedures,
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. The principal
functions of the Board are to supervise the management of the
business and affairs; to approve the strategic plans, investment
and funding decision; to review the Group'’s financial performance
and operating initiatives.

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for formulating
overall strategy and polices, monitoring and controlling the
performance of the Group. In addition to its overall supervisory
role, the Board also retains specific responsibilities such as
approving financial accounts, approving annual budget,
recommending dividend payments, approving policies relating to
the Board’s compliance, etc. whilst managing the Group’s day-
to-day operations is the responsibility of the management of
the Group (the “Management”) such as implementing internal
control, business strategies and plans set by the Board, etc..
When the Board delegates certain aspects of its management and
administration functions to the Management, it has given clear
directions as to the powers of the Management.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director has received comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on appointment so as to ensure
that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or
updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision C.1.4 of the Code on Directors’ training. During the
year, all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending seminars and/or reading materials on
the following topics to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills and provided a record of training to the Company.

Name of Directors EERA
Mr. Lai Fulin FEREE T
Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng BIRAESE
Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson \mUAEEE
Mr. Chen Wei Wen PRIZ N SE 4
Mr. Guan Zhigiang BRI A
Notes: Miat -

C: Corporate Governance C: hEER

F: Finance and Accounting F:BiigRgst
L: Listing Rules Updates L: EmRAIEER
R: Other Relevant Regulatory Updates R A iEREER A E R

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

HEEXR%E

EMTEZERZEREXE2H  ERARR
w2 MBS AERESHARERD
MEERRE TR AZT2HAAENLETR
AR ERAEEERER T2 BT

E=THENSMERED - RANRHZE
FTREFTARAS -

BEAN - BRIVEREAR QAR RS A
SNEAEHEN UREZSBELRTE
SEITERA -

EEwER REFCETTRIBERESEIZ
STAMENEC A AMF - RAFE - 2BEFRC
SEBEEXER  HARLERBATE
Bz BN HBEME - ABR R
Bz M K rege - Y ERARRIRHE
FCE% ©

Topics on training covered "
P 2 Y E

OO O O N0 N

S

Y
5



ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The position of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company are held by separate individuals. The role
of the Chairman is separated from that of the Chief Executive
Officer. Such division of responsibilities helps to reinforce their
independence and accountability.

Mr. Lai Fulin takes up the role of providing leadership for the
Board and ensures that the Board works effectively and discharges
its responsibility properly. With the support of executive Directors
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.
The Chairman also ensures that good corporate governance
practice is in force from time to time, and all key issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner.

Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
is responsible for managing overall daily operations of the Group,
the implementation of the Group’s development strategies and
plans and to perform other responsibilities as assigned by the
Board.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of potential legal actions against its Directors and officers.

BOARD MEETING

The Board meets regularly, and at least four times a year,
additional meetings are convened when deemed necessary by
the Board. Board members are provided with complete, adequate
and timely information to allow the Directors to fulfill their duties
properly. In addition, Directors have full access to information
on the Group and independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the Directors. In addition, the Chairman and
non-executive Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) meet at least once every year without the presence of
executive Directors.

During the year, the Board met regularly and held seven meetings.
Notices and board papers were given to all Directors prior to the
board meetings in accordance with the Code. The Chairman and
non-executive Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) met once without the presence of executive Directors.
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B R
Meetings held in 2021 R-BE-—FETNER
Details of the Directors’ attendance at Board meetings, Board FEUNEEN T —FoRIRESEEE -
committee meetings and general meetings (including the annual ExgETZEggRARERE (BERRE
general meeting and special general meeting) respectively held in BEREGRRRFHIAG) 80 FE L1851
2021 are set out as below: N
Attended/Eligible to attend
HERE, GERHEERE
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Exg ERZEE REZ8E FMzEg
=E =E =f % RRAE
Number of Meetings Held SRETRY 7 3 1 3 2
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lai Fulin ERELE 17 - 17 33 2
Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng BRERE 17 - - - 2
Independent Non-executive ~ BYFHTEE
Directors
Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson ~ EM{EEE 77 33 - - 22
Mr. Chen Wei Wen BRENEE 17 33 17 33 Yl
Mr. Guan Zhigiang Lk 77 33 11 33 22
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BOARD COMMITTEES

A number of Board committee, including audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee, have
been established by the Board to strengthen its functions and
to enhance its expertise. All committees have been formed with
specific written terms of reference which deals clearly with the
respective committees’ authorities and duties.

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three members including one executive Director, namely
Mr. Lai Fulin and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chen Wei Wen and Mr. Guan Zhigiang. It is chaired
by Mr. Guan Zhigiang.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
are as follows:

(@ To make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b) To review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(¢) To make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments (including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment); and

(d) To make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive directors.

The remuneration package of executive Directors is determined
by reference to their duties and responsibilities, experience and
the prevailing market conditions. The remuneration package of
individual executive Directors includes salary, discretionary bonus
and share-based payment. Details of the Directors’ fee and other
emoluments of the Directors of the Company are set out in Note
32 to the financial statements.
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The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it
will review the proposals made by the management on the
remuneration of executive Directors and senior management,
and make recommendations to the Board. The Board will have
final authority to approve the recommendations made by the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during 2021,
the following major matters were reviewed and discussed in the
meetings and recommended to the Board for approval:

e To review the remuneration policy and remuneration
packages of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

e To consider the bonus arrangement of the Directors and
senior management of the Company; and

e To review the new service contracts entered into between
the Company and non-executive Directors.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the Code, the details
remuneration of the senior management of the Company by band
for the year ended 31 December 2021 was set out in Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
comprises three members including an executive Director, Mr. Lai
Fulin, and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chen
Wei Wen and Mr. Guan Zhigiang. It is chaired by Mr. Lai Fulin, the
Chairman of the Board.

Board Diversity Policy

In August 2013, the Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy.
Such policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on Board.
With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee
reviewed the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives,
and monitored the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy
annually.
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Having reviewed the Board composition, the Board recognises the
importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board level and
shall continue to take initiatives to identify female candidate(s) to
enhance the gender diversity among the Board members. We will
appoint at least one female representation in our Board before 31
December 2024. As of the date of this report, 100% of Directors
and 69.6% of our total workforce were male. We will continue
with our endeavor to increase female representation in our Board.

Nomination Policy

In December 2018, the Company adopted the Nomination Policy.
According to the policy, the Nomination Committee (“NC")
will consider candidates recommended by shareholders in the
same manner as candidates recommended to the NC from other
sources. In its evaluation of director candidates, including the
members of the Board eligible for re-election, the NC will consider
(1) The current size and composition of the Board and the needs
of the Board and the respective committees of the Board; (2)
Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service; and (3) Other factors that
the NC may consider appropriate.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as
follows:

(@ To review the structure, size and composition (board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy;

(b) To identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

(c) To review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and
disclose the Board Diversity Policy or its summary in the
corporate governance report of the Company including
the measurable objectives set for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy and progress made towards achieving these
measurable objectives;
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(d) To review the policy for the nomination of Directors
(“Nomination Policy”) as appropriate. The Nomination Policy
shall set out, inter alia, the nomination procedures and
process and criteria to select and recommend candidates for
directorship;

(e) To assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and

(f)  To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

The Nomination Committee held a meeting during 2021, the
following major issues were reviewed and discussed in the
meeting:

e To review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

e Toreview the Board Diversity Policy;

e  To make recommendation to the Board for approval the
revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee;
and

e To evaluate and make recommendation as to the
qualification and experience of the directors who were
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the 2021
annual general meeting.

As at the date of this report, Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yee
Shuen, Wilson, Mr. Chen Wei Wen and Mr. Guan Zhigiang. It is
chaired by Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson who has the appropriate
professional qualifications, accounting and financial management
expertise.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are as
follows:

(@) To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;
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To monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and to review significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them;

To review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems; and

To discuss the risk management and internal control
systems with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during 2021 and the
following major matters were reviewed and discussed in the
meetings:

To review the annual results of 2020 and the interim results
of 2021 and making recommendation to the Board for
approval;

To make recommendation on the reappointment of the
auditor;

To review the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function and their training programme and related
budget;

To review the risk management, internal control systems and
annual internal audit plans;

To review connected transactions entered into by the Group
or subsisting during the year;

To approve the auditor’s remuneration for audit of 2021
financial statements; and

To discuss the audit service plan of 2021.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board adopted the written terms of reference on corporate
governance functions in March 2012 so as to assist the Board
performing corporate governance functions. The terms of
reference of the Board in respect of corporate governance
functions are summarized as follows:

(@ To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) To review the Company’s compliance with the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and its
disclosure requirements in Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the Company'’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuing
professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code,
and the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board
in discharge of its corporate governance functions.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees charged by the auditor generally depends on the
scope and volume of the auditor’s work. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the remuneration to the auditor of the Company
in respect of audit services was HK$1,170,000 and fees related
to taxation services and other non-audit services amount to
HK$97,100 and HK$80,000 respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The senior
management provides such explanation and information to the
Board so as to enable the Board to make an informed assessment
of the financial information and position of the Company.

The Directors acknowledge the responsibilities for preparing the
accounts of the Company. The responsibilities of the auditor
of the Company with respect to the financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 53
to 61.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that
the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it
is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of
risk management and internal controls within the Group and for
reviewing their effectiveness. The systems of risk management
and internal control are designed to facilitate effective and
efficient operations, to safeguard assets and to ensure the quality
of internal and external reporting and compliance control and risk
management functions. It is also designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance that material misstatement or loss
can be avoided, and to manage and minimize risks of failure in
operation systems.

The Group has set up a risk management system to provide
directions in identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks and is reviewed at least on an annual basis. The senior
management of the Group identifies risks that would adversely
affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, and assesses
and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of standard
criteria.
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The Board has engaged an independent professional advisor
to perform ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control review to assess the effectiveness of the financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions of the Company and the Group’s major subsidiaries on
a rotation basis.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted
to the Audit Committee at least once a year. The Board, through
the Audit Committee, had performed annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management system and internal
control system, including the scope on risk management and
internal control systems, result of internal audit work and status of
compliance control.

At the meeting of the Audit Committee held on 22 March 2022,
the independent professional advisor reported their review work
for the year ended 31 December 2021 performed in accordance
with the detailed risk-based internal control review plan which
was approved by the Audit Committee and the risk management
report was also circulated to the Audit Committee for review. The
Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management system
and internal control system for the year ended 31 December
2021. The Audit Committee members, together with the senior
management, have also reviewed, considered and discussed
the risk management system, all findings relating to the internal
control system and recommendations for improvement. The Board
considers the risk management system and internal control system
of the Group were effective and adequate during the year.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and was satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Cheng Siu Kwan,
who is also the Financial Controller of the Company. Mr. Cheng
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He fulfills the requirement under
Rules 3.28 and 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The Company Secretary is responsible for providing secretarial
services to the Board and ensuring the operation of the Company
is properly complied with Hong Kong listed companies’ regulatory
requirements as well as enhancing its corporate governance
standards. All Directors have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.
Company Secretary is also the secretary of each of Board
committees. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of all Board
committees are kept by the Company Secretary and are available
for inspection by the Directors at all times.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Right to convene special general meeting

Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the
bye-law 62 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, the shareholder(s) of
the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company may request the Board to convene a
special general meeting. The requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting, and must be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the registered office of the Company and its head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong for the
attention of Company Secretary and may consist of several
documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.
If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.
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Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar. Other
shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to the head office and
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong as set
out in the “Corporate Information” section of this Annual Report
for the attention of Company Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to Sections 79(1) and 79(2) of the Bermuda Companies
Act, on the requisition in writing of either (i) any number of
members of the Company representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all the members having at
the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which
the requisition relates; or (i) not less than one hundred members,
the Company shall, at the expense of the requisitionists unless the
Company otherwise resolves:

(@) to give to members of the Company entitled to receive notice
of the next annual general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at that meeting;

(b) to circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more
than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred
to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall
be deposited, with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in giving notice of the proposed resolution
or circulating any necessary statement, at the registered office of
the Company and its head office and principal place of business in
Hong Kong in the case of:

(i)  arequisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six
weeks before the meeting; and

(i) any other requisition, not less than one week before the
meeting.

The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that

the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will proceed with
the necessary procedures.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is obliged to provide regular, effective and fair
communication with the shareholders and the investors of the
Company. Latest information is conveyed to the Shareholders and
the investors of the Company on a timely basis. A Shareholder
Communication Policy (the “Policy”) was adopted by the
Company in March 2012. The Policy aims to set out the provisions
with the objective of ensuring that the latest information of
the Company is conveyed to the Shareholders and investors on
a timely basis. The Company uses a range of communication
tools to ensure the Shareholders and the investors are kept well
informed of key business imperatives.

Disclosure of Information

Information shall be communicated to Shareholders and the
investors mainly through the Company’s financial reports (interim
report and annual report), annual general meetings and other
general meetings that may be convened, as well as by making
available all the disclosures submitted to The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) and its
corporate communications and other corporate publications on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

General Meeting

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or
to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their
behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Shareholders’
views on matters that affect the Company are welcome by the
Board at shareholders’ meetings. Shareholders of the Company
are notified of shareholders’ meetings through notices and reports
or circulars sent to them. Each item of special business in the
notice of the meeting is accompanied, where appropriate, by an
explanation for the proposed resolution. A separate resolution
is proposed by the chairman of the meetings in respect of each
separate issue, including the re-election of Directors.

The Chairman of the Board and Chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee or failing
him/her, his/her duly appointed delegate, are available at the annual
general meeting to answer questions with regard to the work of
these committees.
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Voting by Poll

Save as provided under the Listing Rules, resolutions put to vote
at the general meetings of the Company (other than procedural
matters) are taken by poll. Procedures regarding the conduct of
the poll are explained to the shareholders at the commencement
of each general meeting, and questions from shareholders
regarding the voting procedures are answered. The poll results are
posted on the respective websites of the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on the same day of the poll.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains a website (www.chinapipegroup.com)
where information and updates on the list of directors and
their roles and functions, constitutional documents, terms of
reference of the Board committees, procedures for shareholders
to propose a person for election as a director, announcements,
circulars and reports, etc. released to the HKExnews' website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and other information are posted.
Information on the Company’s website will be updated from
time to time. A dedicated email address (ir@chinapipegroup.com)
for investor enquiry is set out in the “IR Contact” section on the
Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there was no significant change to the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure
in presenting their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the special general
meeting held on 29 March 2021, the name of the Company
was changed from “Softpower International Limited” to “China
Pipe Group Limited” the secondary name of the Company was
changed from “E BB BERAF" to "HEEZEEBHFRAR",
both effective from 13 April 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 36 to the
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by operating
segments is set out in Note 5 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 62.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) does not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2021.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In accordance with the relevant provision of the Bye-Laws of
the Company: 1. The Company in general meeting may declare
dividends in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the
amount recommended by the Board. 2. The Board may subject to
Bye-Laws from time to time pay to the shareholders such interim
dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the position
of the Company. 3. The Board may also pay half-yearly or at
other suitable intervals to be settled by it any dividend which may
be payable at a fixed rate if the Board is of the opinion that the
profits justify the payment. 4. No dividend shall be declared or
paid and no distribution of contributed surplus made otherwise
than in accordance with the Statutes. No dividend shall be paid
otherwise than out of profits available for distribution. 5. The
Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or scrip.
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The Company’s ability to distribute dividends will depend on,
among others, the operating results, cash flow, financial condition
and capital requirements of the Group and the interests of
the shareholders of the Company. The Company’s distribution
of dividends shall also comply with any restrictions under the
Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-Laws of the Company.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group's future business development, possible
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report.

The details of financial risk management of the Group are set out
in Note 3 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is set out in the section
headed "Five-Year Financial Summary” of this Annual Report.

The compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group is set out in this “Report of
Directors” and the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this Annual Report.

Social Responsibilities and Services and Environmental
policies

The Group is committed in promoting the sustainable
development of both the environment and the society.

We believe it is more blessed to give than to receive. As such, we
support and encourage our employees to participate in community
service activities. With the support from the management team,
our core business company, Bun Kee (International) Limited
("Bun Kee") is committed to participate and support social
services activities. In this regard, Bun Kee has awarded the
Caring Company logo in recognition of our corporate social
responsibility’s participation and commitment. We also believe
in the ripple effect which those people, whom we helped, will in
turn help others who are in need.
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With regards to environmental policy, we pay a great deal
of attention to promoting environmental protection. We will
integrate environmental awareness in our daily operations
including:

Reduce electricity consumption, improve energy efficiency,
use of energy-efficient products to replace the appliances
and equipment;

Turn off lightings, air-conditioners and electrical appliances in
offices after working hours, or when rooms not being used,
for instance, the conference rooms;

Use electronic means for communications internally and with
external parties;

Reduce the need to copy and print. Use of recycled
paper, copy and print on both sides of the paper, where
appropriate; and

Re-use of office supplies (such as single-sided paper, paper
clips, envelopes, file folders, paper bags, plastic bags).

The Group understands and supports that employees, customers,
suppliers and business partners, investors and shareholders are
vital to our sustainable and stable development.

()

Employees

The Group is an equal opportunity employer. Our employee
handbook outlines terms and conditions of employment,
code of conduct and employee benefits. We promote
harmony and respect in our workplace. Employees are one
of our most important assets. To that end, we provide self-
improvement and advancement opportunities as well as a
safe workplace in order to retain high calibre employees. The
Group values the well-being and health of our employees
and therefore provides medical insurance coverage and
benefits to our employees. In addition, we will organize staff
gathering quarterly and annual dinner, all management will
also participate to maintain good relations with employees
and promote two-way communication. The Company
will conduct staff appraisal annually, and also provide
exit interviews for the outgoing employees. We adopt an
open policy to allow employees at any time, by email or in
person to the department managers or Human Resources
department to express their views.
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(ii) Customers

We provide high quality products to our customers constantly
as it is the best way to retain customers and business growth.
Our sales team will visit customers regularly to keep abreast
of new opportunities and challenges. All opinions received
will be prompt handled by the relevant team. We grow up
together with most of our customers in past years and we
have established solid and long-term relationships with them.
We also have built up a trust and good reputation among
our customers over the years.

(iii) Suppliers and business partners

For our suppliers and business partners, we strive to maintain
a stable and long-term relationship with them. The Group'’s
procurement is based on our stringent suppliers’ selection
criteria. To ensure the highest quality of products, the Group
has requested the suppliers to provide product certification.
In addition, we engaged highly reputable independent
laboratories for quality testing to ensure that the products
comply with local and international standards. Our sales
team and procurement team will have regular visit to our
suppliers’ factories for inspection. In order to allow our
customers to have direct feedback channel to the suppliers,
we will also organize some factory tours to the customers.
This can let them better understanding of the production
flow and products quality affirmation in order to win the
utmost confidence of customers.

(iv) Investors and shareholders

For the investors and shareholders, we maintain a high
level of transparency and communicate with them through
meetings, announcements and circulars. The Company
maintains a website, the information will be updated from
time to time. In addition, a dedicated email address is set out
in the “IR Contact” section of the Company’s website for
investor and general public inquiry.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2021
amounted to approximately HK$116.6 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in properties, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 13 to the financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 23 to the financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2021
are set out in Note 25 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or
sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the Bermuda Companies Act, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2021 are set out in Note 36 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Fulin (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson
Mr. Chen Wei Wen
Mr. Guan Zhigiang

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng and Mr. Chen Wei Wen will retire from
office by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers that
all of them are independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has
entered in to any service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, which is not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors and their respective associates has an
interest in any business which competes or may compete with the
business in which the Group engaged.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme approved by the shareholders of the
Company on 24 June 2004 (the “2004 Scheme"”) which expired
on 23 June 2014. Thereafter, no further options will be granted
under the 2004 Scheme but the subsisting options granted
thereunder prior to the expiry date will continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the terms of the 2004 Scheme.
As at 31 December 2020, all share options granted under prior
to the 2004 Scheme lapsed. The new share option scheme as
mentioned below will be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing from the adoption.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 May
2015, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of
a new share option scheme (the “2015 Scheme") under which the
directors of the Company may grant options to eligible persons
to subscribe for the Company’s shares subject to the terms and
conditions as stipulated therein. Unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, the 2015 Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10
years from the date of its adoption.
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The details of 2015 Scheme are as follows:

(a)

(®)

(9]

Purpose

The purpose of the 2015 Scheme is to recognize and
acknowledge the contributions or potential contributions
made or to be made by the participants to the Group, to
motivate the participants to optimize their performance and
efficiency for the benefit of the Group, and to maintain or
attract business relationship with the participants whose
contributions are or may be beneficial to the growth of the
Group.

Participants

The Board may offer to grant options to the participants
which means (i) any director (including any executive director,
non-executive director or independent non- executive
director) of any member of the Group; (i) any employee
(whether in full time or part-time employment) of any
member of the Group; (iii) any consultant, adviser, supplier,
customer or subcontractor of the Group, and (iv) any other
person whatsoever from time to time determined by the
Board as having contributed to the development, growth or
benefit of the Group.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the general meeting
of the Company approving the Scheme. The number of
shares may be refreshed by the approval of the shareholders
and the refreshed limit of the number of shares must not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
the date of the approval of the refreshed limit. The maximum
number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 133,226,600 Shares, representing 10% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of this report.
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(d)

(e)

()

(9)

(h

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each
participant (including exercised or outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of
shares in issue as at the date of grant.

Minimum period for options to be held

No minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised unless otherwise specified in the relevant
offer letter.

Period and payment on acceptance of options

Pursuant to the Scheme, HK$10 is payable by the grantee to
the Company on acceptance of the option within 28 days
from the date of grant of the option.

Basis determining the subscription price

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Scheme shall be a price determined
by the Board and notified to the participants and shall be
at least the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as
stated in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) daily quotation sheet on the
date on which the options are deemed to be granted and
accepted in accordance with the terms of the Scheme (the
“Commencement Date”), which must be a business day; (b)
the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the Commencement
Date; and (c) the nominal value of the shares.

Life of the Scheme

Subject to earlier termination by the Company at general
meeting or by the Board, the life of the Scheme commenced
from 21 May 2015, the date of adoption, and ended on 20
May 2025.

As at 31 December 2021, no share option was granted by
the Company under the 2015 Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

The interests of the directors in the share options of the Company
are separately disclosed in the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME" above.

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), were set out
below:

Long positions in the shares and underlying share of
the Company

Personal
Interests

EARES

Name of Director Capacity

EBER 0

Yu Ben Ansheng Beneficial owner/Interest of
controlled corporation

ERE ERfia A/ RS AR R

Note:

These shares are held by King Jade Holdings Limited, which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng, an executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Yu is deemed to
be interested in such shares under the SFO.

3,000,000
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Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “SHARE
OPTION SCHEME" above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors or chief executive or their respective associates had
any interests or short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the
following persons or corporations, other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Long position in share and underlying share of the
Company

Name of shareholders Capacity

BREM 5

Beneficial owner

BEmlEBA

Singapore Zhongxin Investment
Company Limited (Mot 1#/1)

Li Juan (ore 2

iﬁ% (Ff3E2)

Qu Zhi
HE

King Jade Holdings
Limited (ote 3 #it3)

Notes:

1. Singapore Zhongxin Investment Company Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Lai Guanglin. Accordingly, Mr. Lai is

Interest of spouse
[y e

Beneficial owner

BB A

Beneficial owner
EnEAA

deemed to be interested in such shares under the SFO.

2. Ms. LiJuan, the spouse of Mr. Lai Guanglin, is also deemed to be
interested in Mr. Lai's interest in the Company under the SFO.
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3. King Jade Holdings Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
Yu Ben Ansheng, an executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Yu is deemed to be
interested in such shares under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company
had not been notified by any persons or corporations, other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the year.

DONATIONS

Donations for charitable made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$28,000.

SHARES ISSUED

The Company has not issued any share during the year ended 31
December 2021.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Company has not issued any debenture during the year ended
31 December 2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME" above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise
in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group throughout the year.

MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the disclosure of related party transactions set out in Note
30 to the financial statements, no Director or an entity connected
with Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance between any members of
the Group and the Company’s controlling shareholders subsisting
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME" above, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

1.

From 1 January 2021 to 31 March 2021, the Group paid
consultancy fee to a company owned by Mr. Lai for a fixed
sum of HK$373,000 per month as agreed by both parties
according to the consultancy services agreement dated 1
April 2020 for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March
2021. This is a continuing connected transaction which is
exempted under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. The total
amount of consultancy services fees paid by the Company
was HK$1,119,000 for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31
March 2021.

On 1 April 2021, the Consultancy Services Agreement (the
“Agreement”) was entered into between the Company and
Brothers Capital Limited (“BCL"), pursuant to which the
Company agreed to appoint BCL for the provision of certain
consultancy services. The term of the Agreement shall be a
period of one year from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022. Mr.
Lai Guanglin (“Mr. Lai"”) is the controlling shareholder of the
Company. As BCL is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Lai, BCL is
an associate of Mr. Lai and therefore, is an associate of the
connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.13(3) of
the Listing Rules. As such, the provision of services by BCL
under the Agreement constitutes continuing connected
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Agreement, BCL shall provide
the Company with consultancy services in connection with
its investment and corporate strategy. The total amount
of Consultancy Services Fees paid by the Company was
HK$3,357,000 for the period from 1 April 2021 to 31
December 2021. This amount does not exceed the cap
amount of HK$3,357,000 for the period from 1 April 2021
to 31 December 2021 as shown in the announcement of the
Company dated 1 April 2021.
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As mentioned in the announcement dated 11 May 2016
and the circular dated 15 July 2016 of the Company, on 11
May 2016, Mao Xing Limited (now known as Softpower
(China) Limited), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Lender”), entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan
Agreement”) with China Victory International Holdings
Limited, (“CVIL"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Agria
Corporation, pursuant to which the Lender has conditionally
agreed to grant to CVIL a loan facility in the amount
of up to US$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$77,746,000) upon and subject to the terms and
conditions set out therein.

As at the date of the Loan Agreement, Mr. Lai Guanglin, a
director and the controlling shareholder of the Company (Mr.
Lai resigned as director on 30 March 2018) and was also the
controlling shareholder of Agria Corporation. As such, CVIL is
therefore a connected person of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated
under the Loan Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The loan carried interest at 10.5% per annum and is
repayable by 31 July 2019. The loan was secured by the
entire issued shares of CVIL executed by Agria Group Limited
("AGL"), the immediate holding company of CVIL, and also
guaranteed by a deed of corporate guarantee executed by
Agria Corporation in favour of the Group.

Pursuant to a resolution passed in a special general meeting
on 23 February 2018, the Group agreed to novate and AGL,
a wholly -owned subsidiary of Agria Corporation and the
immediate holding company of CVIL, agreed to assume
the Group’s loan to CVIL of US$10,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$78,357,000) with all other terms and conditions
remained unchanged.

On 9 May 2019, the Group entered into a loan agreement
(“2019 Loan Agreement”) with AGL to renew the loan and
the proposed annual caps from 1 August 2020 to 31 July
2022.
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Under the 2019 Loan Agreement, the clause of the share
mortgage executed by AGL, being the sole shareholder of
CVIL, over the entire issued shares of CVIL in favour of the
Group has been removed. Save as the above amendments, all
other terms of the 2019 Loan Agreement remain unchanged
and continue in full force and effect.

On 21 July 2020, the Group and Agria Group Limited ("AGL")
agreed to enter into a supplemental loan agreement (“2020
Supplemental Loan Agreement”) to adjust downward the
interest rate for each of the interest period from ten point
five per cent (10.5%) of the Loan per annum to five point
five per cent (5.5%) of the Loan per annum.

The Loan is also secured by a share charge to be executed
by the Borrower in favour of the Lender as a continuing
security and continuing obligation for performance by the
Borrower of its obligations in the 2019 Loan Agreement (as
amended or supplemented by the 2020 Supplemental Loan
Agreement). Pursuant to the share charge, the Borrower will
charge 20% of its share interests in Agria Asia Investments
Limited (“AAIL") to the Lender. AAIL is a company with
limited liability incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
is wholly-owned by the Borrower. AAIL is indirectly holding a
share equity investment in an agricultural enterprise in New
Zealand through Agria (Singapore) Pte. Ltd, the only and
wholly-owned direct subsidiary of AAIL.

Save and except for the revision on the original interest rate
and the share charge by AGL, all other terms as set out in
the 2019 Loan Agreement remain unchanged.

Pursuant to a resolution passed in a special general meeting
on 12 August 2020, 2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement
was approved.

The annual caps of the maximum principal loan outstanding
for the financial years ended/ending 31 December 2019,
31 December 2020, 31 December 2021 and period
ending 31 July 2022 were US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$78,500,000) for each year/period.
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The annual caps of the interest amounts for the financial
period from 1 January 2020 to 11 August 2020, period
from 12 August 2020 (assumed the effective date of 2020
Supplemental Loan Agreement) to 31 December 2020,
year ended 31 December 2021 and period ending 31
July 2022 were US$645,000, US$214,000, US$550,000
and US$320,000 respectively (“Annual Caps”). The 2020
Supplemental Loan Agreement, Annual Caps of the principal
loan outstanding and interest amounts were approved by
the shareholders of the Company at the Company’s special
general meeting on 12 August 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the interest income
from AGL amounted to approximately US$550,000,
(equivalent to HK$4,293,000) (2020: US$858,000 (equivalent
to HK$6,685,000)).

As at 31 December 2021, the loan to AGL amounted
to US$10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$78,152,000)
(31 December 2020: US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$77,830,000)).

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the continuing connected transaction and
confirmed that (i) the entering into of the Loan Agreement,
although it is not conducted in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, it is in the interests of the
Company and the shareholders as a whole; and (ii) the terms
of the loan agreement and the Annual Caps are on normal
commercial terms and are fair and reasonable.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transaction in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the above mentioned
continuing connected transaction in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above and in Note 30 to the financial
statements, during the year, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are
required to comply with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable
to the Group's major suppliers and customers are as follows:
Purchases

—  thelargest supplier 25.7%

- five largest suppliers combined 63.7%

Sales

—  the largest customer 4.5%

- five largest customers combined 15.9%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Details of the compliance with corporate governance code of
the Company are set out in the “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT" of this Annual Report.
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ERFHRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson, Mr. Chen Wei
Wen and Mr. Guan Zhigiang.

By reference to “A Guide for the Formation of An Audit
Committee” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, written terms of reference which describe the
authority and duties of the audit committee were prepared and
adopted by the Board of the Company.

The annual results have been reviewed by the audit committee of
the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float required under the Listing
Rules as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

By Order of the Board

Lai Fulin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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To the Shareholders of China Pipe Group Limited
(Formerly known as Softoower International Limited)
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Pipe Group
Limited (formerly known as Softpower International Limited) (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 62 to 155, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021;

e  the consolidated income statement for the year then ended,;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policy and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B e

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

The key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

. Net realisable value of inventories
e Impairment of trade receivables

e Impairment of loan to a related company
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Key Audit Matter
ERETER

Net realisable value of inventories
Refer to notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, inventories of
the Group amounted to approximately
HK$280 million. As described in the Basis of
preparation and accounting policies in note
2(h) to the consolidated financial statements,
inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Management applied judgment in
determining the approprlate provisions
for slow moving, obsolete inventories and
inventories with net realisable value below
cost. Net realisable value is determined based
upon a detailed analysis of the aging of
inventories on a product-by-product basis,
and with reference to their latest invoice
prices and current market conditions. An
impairment provision of approximately
HK$18 million has been recorded to reduce
the carrying value of certain inventories to
their estimated net realisable value.

We focused on this area due to the size
of the balances and the higher degree of
estimation uncertainty and subjectivity in
management’s judgment in determining the
net realisable value of the inventories.

FENTSRFE
ﬂﬁ//g /VTg\gjﬁ%ﬁzz\%/f/7E4&/jfjﬂf78°

R_T_—F+_A=1+—8
H17 & 42{E %) /280,000,000/8 T ©
Bl 7 0 5 W\Amﬁﬁgﬁ&@ﬁ
it TFE ThiR A AR B R 4R JFE R
K& -

EEFL%M%MH%%\ﬂ%ﬁgu
FIRFEERRAKANTEEETEAE

o AJ & S RELIRE HHE R E &
N WERRHERIANE %

TRMBRRAMETE - 77

5 #477/4518,000,000/% 7T

IR

E

N\
[y

\)
:.m

-

\

\

ey
e

EE AR A BB EE -

2 E NS NRER
S IR AR SRR S
HRER BB EE -

ﬂ&ltt%ﬁﬂi%%
ST E
HAEETE

SFrtsp ﬂ?ﬁfﬂﬂki}rﬁd

oF 2

Independent Auditor’s Report
3 A% B e

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BT OAEEAEESE

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment on net
realisable value of inventories included:

Understood and evaluated the appropriateness and consistency
of the basis management used in estimating the level of
provision for inventories, and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such
as complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

Compared the historical accuracy of inventory provisioning,
on a sample basis, to the realised amount and evaluated the
outcome of prior period assessment of inventory provision to
assess the effectiveness of management’s estimation process;
and reviewing the level of inventory write-offs during the year.

Checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy of inventory aging
used by management to estimate the appropriate provision for
slow moving and obsolete inventories.

Performed audit analytics on inventory holding and movement
data to identify products with indication of slow moving or
obsolescence.

Compared the carrying amounts of a sample of inventories
to their net realisable value by checking to their selling price
subsequent to the year end. Where there are no subsequent
sales of the respective products after the year end, we
challenged management as to the realisable value of the
products, corroborating explanations with the aging, sales
orders, historical margins and marketability of the respective
inventories, as appropriate.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the assumptions of
management in relation to assessment on net realisable value of
inventories to be supportable by available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key Audit Matter
ERETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN E AR EARESIE

Impairment of trade receivables
Reter to notes 4 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held
trade receivables of approximately HK$161
million net of the provision of approximately
HK$1.2 million. Recoverability is assessed
and provision is made for lifetime expected
credit losses on trade receivables.

Management applied judgement in
determining the appropnate loss allowance
on trade receivables. Trade receivables
relating to customers with known financial
difficulties or significant doubt on collection
are assessed individually for provision for
loss allowance. Expected credit losses are
estimated by grouping the remaining trade
receivables based on shared credit risk
characteristics and collectively assessed
for likelihood of recovery, taking into
account the nature of the customers, their
geographical locations and their ageing
categories, and applying expected credit
loss rates to the respective gross carrying
amounts of the trade receivables. The
expected credit loss rates are determined
based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience with an adjustment to reflect
current and forward-looking information
such as macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

We focused on this area due to the size
of the balances and the higher degree of
estimation uncertainty and subjectivity in
management’s judgment in determining the
expected credit loss allowance of the trade
receivables.

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment on
provision for loss allowance on trade receivables included:

Understood, evaluated and tested, on a sample basis,
management’s key control over the assessment on
recoverability of trade receivable balances and the related
loss allowance, including periodic review on trade receivables
aging, historical loss rates and approval of provision made,
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or fraud.

Checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy of trade receivables
aging used by management to estimate the appropriate
provision for loss allowance.

Obtained management’s assessment on the expected credit loss
allowance of trade receivables and assessed the reasonableness
of the expected loss rates. We corroborated and validated
management’s assessment based on the historical settlement
pattern, correspondence with the customers, and evidence
from external sources including the relevant public search
results relating to the financial circumstances of the relevant
customers.

Assessed management’s assessment of current market
condition and forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic factors by comparing the data used by
management against publicly available information.

Checked the mathematical accuracy of management'’s
calculation for loss allowance of trade receivables.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the judgement
and estimates made by management in relation to assessment on
provision for loss allowance on trade receivables to be supportable
by available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter
ERETER

Impairment of loan to a related company
Refer to notes 4, 19 and 30(e) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held a
loan to a related company of approximately
HK$78 million net of the provision of
approximately HK$0.1 million.

Management applied judgement in
determining the approprlate loss allowance
for impairment of loan to the related
company. The loan is secured by corporate
guarantee by the holding company of
the borrower (the “Guarantor”) and a
20% share charge over a subsidiary of
the borrower. The loan is interest bearing
and repayable by July 2022 as detailed in
note 30(e) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Management reviewed the financial
conditions of the related company and
the Guarantor, taking into account the
settlement history of the related interest
elements, and a provision of HK$0.1 million
is made for this loan as at 31 December
2021.

We focused on this area due to the size
of the balance and the higher degree of
estimation uncertainty and subjectivity in
management’s judgment in determining the
recoverable amount of the loan.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BT OAEEAEESE

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment
on the loan receivable included:

Understood and evaluated management assessment on
impairment of loan to a related company, and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes and
susceptibility to management bias or fraud.

Reviewed the loan agreement and obtained direct confirmation
from the related company on the balance and terms of the
loan as at 31 December 2021 with no exception.

Checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy of interest payment
received and whether they are in accordance with the terms of
the loan.

Challenged management as to the recoverability of the loan,
corroborating explanations with the latest financial information
of the related company and the Guarantor and value of
secured assets.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the assumptions of
management in relation to the impairment assessment on loan to
the related company to be supportable by available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Hiu Tung.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022

Independent Auditor’s Report

3 7 A B

BB B RS M RR AR
sEE@

CHEBFBBNFET  RABEWLEFIR
BAHRAMBBRRNETRAER - BAM
BERESEHE - RAIEXBENREPHE
MIELRIR - [RIPERERTAFARKE
BUEE  FEHERFENERT  RE
BRHAERMRETEBEFREKNEE
BREBBEENATN G - HIVRETEE
WERBBZER -

HARBIZBMBENEAHEABAZ
RER -

BORKES BB

HE BT

B/ - —_F=A-+HHA

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 % #

(61



Consolidated Income Statement

Rl E TS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE-_T-_—F+-A=t+—HILFE

Continuing operation:
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other gains, net
Selling and distribution costs

General and administrative expenses

Provision for impairment
of financial assets

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance (costs)/income, net

Profit before income tax
Tax expense

Profit for the year from
continuing operation

Discontinued operation:
Profit/(loss) for the year from
discontinued operation

Profit for the year

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings/(loss) per share
Basic and diluted
From continuing operation
From discontinued operation

RELERR
WA
S A

E7

H At Yoo 588

$HE K AR
—REITHER
TRIBEEMNRERRE

AT

BITSIA
&R

s (BA) MWAFE

T A A
PR H

FEEEEB 2 FEE

U EEET -
RIPEEXEBZFE
A, (&)

R R F

A, (B1R) BB
AREIESFEA
TR AR

FhRaTN, (&8
KEFREEERD
KERILEERH

The notes on pages 69 to 155 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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2021 2020

—E-—fF —E-THF

Note HK$000 HK$°000
Kzt FET FET
5 682,187 497,295
7 (479,383) (356,804)
202,804 140,491

6 2,090 9,512
7 (21,558) (16,562)
7 (108,551) (100,952)
7 (1,238) (409)
73,547 32,080

9 4,632 8,276
9 (5,843) (6,871)
9 (1,211) 1,405
72,336 33,485
10 (10,487) (2,773)
61,849 30,712
33 348 (15,808)
62,197 14,904

62,306 20,152
(109) (5,248)

62,197 14,904

HK cents HK cents

B JEN

11

4.64 2.30
0.03 (0.79)

4.67 1.51
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
Item that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss.
Actuarial gain on post-employment
benefit obligations, net of tax
Item that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss:
Currency translation differences
Release of exchange reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries
Realisation of exchange reserve upon
deregistration of a subsidiary

Other comprehensive income for the
year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
attributable to Equity holders of
the Company:

Continuing operation
Discontinued operation
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The notes on pages 69 to 155 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-_—F+-A=1+—ALFE

2021 2020
—EC—F —E-TF

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Kzt FAETT FET
62,197 14,904

24 319 184
296 184

835 -

153 -

1,603 368

63,800 15,272

63,888 20,674

(88) (5,402)

63,800 15,272

62,554 31,542

1,334 (10,868)

63,888 20,674
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ENE LR INY

As at 31 December 2021
RZZE=_—F+=-A=+—H

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Loan to a related company
Rental deposits and other assets

Current assets

Loan to a related company

Inventories

Trade receivables

Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Tax recoverable

Pledged certificate of deposit

Pledged bank deposits

Cash and bank balances

Total assets

EQUITY

Equity holders
Share capital
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-FF
Note HK$°000 HK$000
it FAETT FEIT
BE
ERBEE
VI - B MR 13 1,751 3,634
REEE 14 96,480 114,977
| EE 15 375 426
BT —MEEA T 19 = 77,706
fﬂiﬂ;@&ﬁf BE 19 6,598 6,524
105,204 203,267
REBEE
BRT—HEQR 19 78,152 -
T 18 280,094 192,168
B G EINGIA 19 159,554 127,476
e~ B R R E A ERGR
19 65,057 55,987
AR BEFABRZEMEE
20 1,706 1,742
EIEE 2 4
B IRF R 21 10,000 10,000
BRIRERI TR 21 36,000 36,000
e MIRTTE 22 172,084 189,088
802,649 612,465
HMEE 907,853 815,732
S
EEEEA
&7 23 26,645 26,645
(=] 24 601,652 537,764
628,297 564,409
Bl g T = (3,187)
R 628,297 561,222
BZWaEAEERauBSHEes

The notes on pages 69 to 155 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
SO BRI

As at 31 December 2021
RZZEZ—F+=-A=+—H

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-FF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Kzt FET FET
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 85,099 98,979
Deferred tax liabilities FEFRITBEE 26 1,663 1,508
Other non-current liabilities HmIERBAE 974 1,527
87,736 102,014
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables, other payables and B S RENFIE - HMENFIE
contract liabilities rEREE 27 108,550 71,011
Taxation payable FERFRIR 8,524 2,864
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 18,727 21,637
Borrowings BE 25 56,019 56,984
191,820 152,496
Total liabilities HmeE 279,556 254,510
Total equity and liabilities HWEZNEE 907,853 815,732
Net current assets RBEEFE 610,829 459,969
Total assets less current liabilities ®#EERMABHER 716,033 663,236

The financial statements on pages 62 to 155 were approved by 2R IS5 RECDHETeN —F

the board of Directors on 25 March 2022 and were signed on its ——F=A-t+HEME TREREEeH
behalf: Z:
Lai Fulin 38388 Yu Ben Ansheng 81 %4
Director % Director &%

The notes on pages 69 to 155 are an integral part of these H69E 1558 YT AN ESSAWEHRE Y
consolidated financial statements. =
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE-_T-_—F+-A=t+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KOTSRS ARETR

Share-
based Non-
Share Share  Copital ~ Merger  Statutory Other  Echange  payment  Refained  controling
apldl  pemum  reene  reene  fesene  fesene  Esene  Rene  eamings  intrests Totel
ol
BER
e ROEE  AAEE  GMEE  AREE  AHEE  ENRE  GVRE  REAN ERER e
S0 SO0 SO0 AKSODD MKSO0D MKSO0D AKSOOD HKSOOD HKSOOD HKSOO0 HKS 000
it thr Bt Tt T FEr FE T T T PE
At1 January 2020 HN-F-FF-A-H 26,665 126618 315 3700 U 1,131 (483) U9 3110 2215 546,036
Profit or the year TERRT - - - - - - - YA I Y
Other comprehensive income: Etamkg:
Actuaril gai on post-employment - BB AERIERHEE
beneft obligation, net of tax W - TR - - - - - 184 - - - - 184
Curency transation differences EhhERE - - - - - - 38 - - (154) 184
Total comprehensive income TERRANAAE
for the year - - - - - 184 338 - 20,15 (400 152
Transactions with owners ERRAIRS:
Shares epurchased and RiER R
anceled otz 29) 22 20) (66) - - - - - - - - (86)
Transfer upon apse of share options~ FEEFRTEX R - - - - - - - 349) 349 - -
At31 December 2020 Ro2-%E
+2A=1-8 2645 12655 B/ANH) 3700 U 1915 (145) - 371603 (3,187) 561222
FaMBRR

consolidated financial statements.

The notes on pages 69 to 155 are an integral part of these $69F 1558 At E
3
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_Z-_—F+-_A=t+—RALEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
LT IN

Non-
Share Share  Capital ~ Merger Statutory ~ Other  Exchange  Retained controlling
Gpital  premium  reseve  reseve  reserve  reseve  reseve  eamnings interests Total
Br  BHEE EABR  AHER  tERE  AMRRE  ENRE  REEN FERER g
HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKSUBD  HKSUOOD  HKSOO0  HKSUBD  HKSUOD  HKSOOO  HKSUAD
f&r fEn TE B TEr TEr FEn TR TE T

At 1 January 2021 N-E--%-R-H 26,685 126552 3115 3700 U 1915 (145) 371,603 (3187 561222
Proft or he year RERAT - - - - - - - B306 (109 62197
Other comprehensie income: AAENE
Release of exchange resenve upon HENBARRENER
disposal of subsidaris 8 - - - - - - 835 - - 835
Realisation of exchange reserve upon - ENELAREL
Geregistration of a subsidary HEiR - - - - - - 153 - - 15
Actuaria gain on post-employmen FERRERRE S
benefitobligatons, nt of tex Pl RER - - - - - 319 - - - 39
Curency transation differences SHiaEEE - - - - - - Vi - u 2%
Totel comprehensive income for theyear AR 2N LS - - - - - 9 163 62306 (88) 63800
Transactions with owners HREALRS:
Disposal of subsidaries HEREBLT - - - - - - - - 35 3B
At31 December 2021 i S
+ZA=1-f 2645 126552 34115 3,700 U 234 1118 433909 - 628297

The notes on pages 69 to 155 are an integral part of these £
consolidated financial statements. FREBATS o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE-_T-_—F+-A=t+—HILFE

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Interest received

Income tax (paid)/refund

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
Net cash outflow for disposal of subsidiaries
Dividend income from financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Drawdown of borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Purchase of pledged certificate of deposit
Redemption of pledged certificate of deposit
Payment for repurchase of ordinary shares
Principal elements of lease payments

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents

Exchange differences

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of the year

REFTBH RERE

REXGEL RS
BERHME
BEHHE
(B, RRMAEH

REEZHELRSFR

REZDRERE

BADE - BERR
HEME - BiE k&
IS 5E
HEZ DA BEFARZZ
SREEMSIA
HEMBARR SR FRE
BARBEARGSCEREE
ZBBMA

RERD (M), HEHLSFE

RMEEBCRERE

RARE
BEEE
BADERENE
BEAESENER
[ L @A R
A #in BB R

REEDFBRLFE
RERRE SR (D),
HFE

5 ER
FZReRREEEY

FRZASRBETEEY

The notes on pages 69 to 155 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

Note
g

29

13

29

34

22

22

2021 2020
—E-—-F —ZTTE
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
12,287 37,351
(5,922) (6,910)
4,740 9,129
(4,737) 2,687
6,368 42,257
(850) (363)
= 60
= 1,004
(48) -
61 70
(837) 771
439,969 326,007
(440,934) (316,407)
(10,015) (10,027)
10,000 10,000
- (86)
(22,189) (23,006)
(23,169) (13,519)
(17,638) 29,509
634 1,896
189,088 157,683
172,084 189,088




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

China Pipe Group Limited (formerly known as Softpower
International Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) are principally engaged in trading of
construction materials, mainly pipes and fittings.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”).

The Group discontinued the business in biomass pellet fuel
products segment in 2020 and completed the disposal of
the entire equity interest in Guizhou Zhongguan Industry
Development Limited* (E/MFATEEZERE AR QA in
2021, which engaged biomass pellet fuel products business
through its 66.7% equity interests owned subsidiary namely
of Guizhou Zhongguan New Energy Limited* (& /R E 6L
JRAB MR 7). The consideration was RMB1. The disposal was
completed in March 2021. A gain on disposal of subsidiaries
of approximately HK$692,000 was recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Further details are set out in
Note 34.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2022.

Basis of preparation and accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried at
fair value.
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Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 4.

The Group has applied the following amendments to
standards for the first time for the annual reporting period
commencing on or after 1 January 2021:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Amendments to
HKAS 39, HKFRS 4,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent
Concessions

The Group has applied for the first time the above
amendments to standards issued by the HKICPA. The
adoption of amendments to standards do not have a material
impact on the Group’s results of operations or financial
position.

Issued but not yet effective standards, amendments
to standards and interpretation

The following new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations have been issued but are not effective for
the financial year beginning 1 January 2021 and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group is assessing the
impact of these new standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B A e Wi

Basis of preparation and accounting policies

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective standards, amendments
to standards and interpretation (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16  Property, Plant and Equipment:

Amendments to HKAS 37

AG 5 (Revised)

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Annual improvements

project

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 8

HKFRS 17 and
Amendments to
HKFRS 17

HK Int 5 (2020)

Proceeds before intended
use’

Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations'

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Standards 2018-2020!

Classification of Liabilities as
Current and Non-current?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Insurance Contracts?

Presentation of Financial
Statements- Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

1 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022

2 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023

3 effective date to be determined
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2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(a) Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquire on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquire that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interest’s proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquire is re-
measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B A e Wi

MBEERSFBER @

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies 2.
(Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued) (a) #EBRE (&

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as
a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured
is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the income
statement.

Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interest are also
recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o A e Witk

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Consolidation (Continued)
Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value
at the date when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors
of the Company that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
revaluation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

— income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

— all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign operations, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are taken to other comprehensive
income.
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2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iiij) Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, comprising, leasehold
improvements, plant and machinery, equipment,
furniture and fixtures and motor vehicles are stated
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance
expenses are charged to the consolidated income
statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Plant, machinery and
equipment
Leasehold improvements

3-10 years

5 years or the lease
period, if shorter

Office furniture, fixtures 3-5 years
and fittings

Office equipment 3-5 years

Computer equipment 3-5 years

Motor vehicles 3-10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within ‘Other gains, net’ in the consolidated
income statement.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are
at least tested annually for impairment. Assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(i.e. CGUs). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o A e Witk

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(e) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
and non-financial assets (Continued)

()

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Financial assets

()

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

—  those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through OCI or through profit or
loss), and

—  those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI.
For investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI).

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. BEERESTBER @

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

f) =HEE@R
(i) &t &

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’'s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

—  Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses) together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o A e Witk

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies

(Continued)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which
are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other gains/(losses)
and impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within other gains/(losses) in the period in
which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)) Measurement (Continued)

(iv)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as other income when the Group's
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in
the statement of profit or loss as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.
The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables.
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2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(f) Financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

Impairment on other receivables is measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase
in credit risk of a receivables has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit losses.

(g) Leases

The Group leases various office, warehouses, retail
shops and staff quarters. Property leases are typically
made for fixed periods of one to ten years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
various different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and the
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the
respective leased asset is available for use by the Group.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Leases (Continued)

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that
option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value in a similar economic environment with
similar terms and conditions.

Payments associated with short-term leases of office
and warehouse are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out (“FIFO") method. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold in the ordinary course of business. Trade
receivables are generally due for settlement within the
credit period and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o A e Witk

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

()]

(k)

)

(m)

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated
statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the end of
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

(o)

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits
(i) Employee leaves

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are
recognised as a liability when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of services rendered by employees and a reliable
estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be
settled within twelve months and are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when they are
settled.
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2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Pension obligations

Following the adoption of the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF"”) Scheme in December
2000, all employees of the Group employed in
Hong Kong joined the MPF Scheme. Under this
scheme, employees and the Group are required
to make contributions to the scheme calculated
at 5% of the individual employee’s monthly
basic salaries, subject to a cap of HK$1,500. The
Group's contributions to this scheme are expensed
when they are due. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

The Group’s employees in the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC") are covered by various
government sponsored pension plans. These
government agencies are responsible for the
pension liabilities to these employees. The relevant
group companies pay monthly contributions to
these pension plans based on certain percentages
of the salaries, subject to a certain ceiling.

The employees employed by the operations in
Macau are members of the government-managed
retirement benefits schemes operated by the
Macau government. The Macau operations are
required to pay a monthly fixed contribution to the
retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits schemes operated by
the Macau government is to make the required
contributions under the schemes.

Under these plans, the Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to make further payments
once the required contributions have been paid.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B A e Wi

2. BEERESTBER @

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued) (o) BEEF @&

(iv) Share-based payment

(iv) LRGBE#RZ

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan, under which the entity
receives services from employees as considerations
for equity instruments (options) of the Group.
The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

e including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

e excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

e including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holding shares for a
specified period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At the end of each reporting period, the entity
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the income statement with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o A e Witk

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(p) Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

()

(ii)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position
date in the countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation and considers whether it is probable
that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of
the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(p) Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(ii) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

(g) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has
been reliably estimated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o A e Witk

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies

(Continued)

(q) Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as

interest expense.

(r) Revenue recognition

(i) Sale of goods — wholesale

The Group sells a range of pipes and fittings and
biomass pellet fuel products. Sales are recognised
when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are delivered to the
customers, the customer has full discretion over
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products.

Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the
customer, and either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from the sale of goods is based on the
price specified in the sales contracts. Accumulated
experience is used to estimate provision for
returns.

A receivable is recognised when the products
are delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is
due.

Deposits collected from the customers before
product delivery are recognised as contract
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Basis of preparation and accounting policies
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
(i) Sale of goods - retail

The Group operates a chain of retail stores selling
pipes and fittings products. Revenue from the
sale of goods is recognised when a group entity
sells a product to the customer. Payment of the
transaction price is due immediately when the
customer purchases the product and takes delivery
in store.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

Intangible assets
Trademark

Separately acquired trademark is shown at historical
cost. Trademark has a finite useful life and is carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the
cost of trademark over their estimated useful life of 10
years.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale
and that represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-
ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale. The results of discontinued
operation are presented separately in the income
statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o A e Witk

3. Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit and counterparty risk and
liquidity risk. The Group's financial risk management
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance by actively managing
debt level and cash flow in order to maintain a strong
financial position and minimising refinancing and
liquidity risks by attaining healthy debt repayment
capacity, appropriate maturity profile and availability of

banking facilities.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates principally in Hong Kong
and in Macau with minor operations in the
Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the
United States dollars (“USD"), Macau Pataca
("MOP") and Renminbi (“"RMB"). Foreign
exchange risk mainly arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets
and liabilities, which are denominated in a
currency that is not the functional currency
of the group entities. In order to mitigate
the foreign currency risk, the Group has
been closely monitoring its foreign currency
exposure and requirements and will arrange
for any hedging facilities if necessary.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

()

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As HK$ is pegged against USD and MOP is
pegged against HK$, the Group is exposed
to limited exchange rate fluctuation. As a
result, the exchange rate risk exposure in
respect of USD and MOP are not significant.
While for RMB, the exchange rate fluctuation
is relatively volatile. At 31 December 2021,
if RMB had strengthened /weakened by
5% (2020: 5%) against HK$ with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit would
have been HK$119,000 (2020: HK$114,000)
higher /lower respectively mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation
of RMB-denominated financial assets and
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o A e Witk

3.

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. The Group's interest-
bearing assets mainly include loan to a related
company and bank balances and deposits,
details of which have been disclosed in Notes
19, 21 and 22. The Group’s exposure to
changes in interest rates is also attributable
to its borrowings, details of which have
been disclosed in Note 25. Borrowings carry
at floating rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest-rate risk whereas those carry
at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest-rate risk. As at 31 December 2021,
approximately 18% (2020: 37%) of the
Group’s borrowings were carried at floating
rates and expose the Group to cash flow
interest-rate risk. The Group has not used
any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure
against cash flow interest-rate risks.

As at 31 December 2021, if interest rate
has increased/decreased by 25 basis points
with all other variables held constant, post-
tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2021 would have been HK$21,000 (2020:
HK$44,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result
of increase/decrease in interest expense on
borrowings.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit and counterparty risk

()

Risk management

Credit risk mainly arises from bank deposits,
trade and other receivables, other deposits
and loan to a related company. The carrying
amounts of these balances substantially
represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit and counterparty risk in relation to
financial assets.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2021 all the
bank deposits are deposited in high quality
financial institutions without significant credit
risk. The credit risk on bank deposits is limited
because 65% (2020: 63%) of the Group's
bank balances are placed with subsidiaries
of state-owned banks and others are
placed with reputable financial institutions.
Management does not expect any loss from
non-performance of these banks.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue trade and other
receivables.

Rental deposits made to landlords are also
considered to be of low risk. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced. Other than the loan to a related
company as mentioned below, the Group
has no significant concentration of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a number of
counterparties and customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o A e Witk

3.

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit and counterparty risk (Continued)

()

(i)

Risk management (Continued)

In respect of the loan to a related company,
as detailed in Note 30(e), the Group obtained
share charge executed by the borrower and
guarantees executed by the guarantor in
favour of the Group as a continuing security
and continuing obligation for performance
by the borrower of its obligations to minimise
the credit risk.

Impairment of financial assets
Trade receivables

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped with
similar risk characteristics and, collectively or
individually, assessing them for likelihood of
recovery.

The Group categorises its trade receivables,
except those individually assessed, based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The expected loss rates are
based on the payment profiles of sales over
a period of 12 months before 31 December
2021 and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. Financial risk management (Continued) 3. HMBEREE@
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIBEREE@E
(b) Credit and counterparty risk (Continued) (b)) FERXZLEE (&)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) TEEEREE)
Trade receivables (Continued) Z SR IE (&)
For trade receivables relating to accounts in REENEZ S ERR
which there are objective evidence that the H - HREREEER
debtor faces significant financial difficulties B &% A mEERE XY
or enter liquidation, they are assessed R H# S EITERM R
individually for impairment allowance. No C BHERNE PR
specific loss allowance was made as at 31 MERMEREE BZE—
December 2021 (2020: Nil). BE_—F+ZRA=+—
A2 AHRIGHEEERR
wWCE_TF |-
The expected credit loss rate for the FRE 5B BGRIERTE
remaining trade receivables is determined as HEEEBEBRX®EEN
follow: I
Lifetime Gross Lifetime Net
expected carrying  expected carrying
loss rate amount  credit loss amount
2HEH ZHEH

FEBRE RE#E FEBR KEFE
%  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
FET FET FET

As at 31 December R=ZB=—F

2021 +=A=+—-H
Collective assessment ST
Within credit period EEHR 0.19 104,189 (196) 103,993
1 to 30 days 1RZE30K 0.19 33,300 (62) 33,238
31 t0 90 days 31RE90K 0.24-0.55 19,697 (59) 19,638
Over 90 days HBiBI0K 1.37-41.01 3,570 (885) 2,685

160,756 (1,202) 159,554
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. Financial risk management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit and counterparty risk (Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December “ECTF
2020 +: =t-

Collective assessment SRR

Within credit period =88R

1 to 30 days 1RE30K

31 to 90 days 31REI0KR

Over 90 days HEI0K

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

3. MBEREE@
3.1 BIBREREE#E
(b) EEREXE5EE )
(i) 2EERE (B
& 5 RENGRIE ()

Lifetime Gross Lifetime Net
expected carrying expected carrying

loss rate amount  credit loss amount
ZHITEH ZHITEH]

EEERE KELE FEER KEFE
%  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT

0.06 83,145 (53) 83,092

0.09 27,323 (24) 27,299
0.10-0.21 14,598 (18) 14,580
0.44-0.60 2,520 (15) 2,505
127,586 (110) 127,476
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit and counterparty risk (Continued)

(ir)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The directors of the Group consider the
probability of default upon initial recognition
of asset and whether there has been
significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis. To assess whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares risk of a default occurring on the
assets as at the reporting date with the risk
of default as at the date of initial recognition.
Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

e actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
company’s ability to meet its obligations;

e actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of the company;

e significant changes in the expected
performance and behavior of the
company, including changes in the
payment status of the counterparty.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 90 days past due in making a
contractual payment/repayable demanded.

3.

B A e Wi

BERREE @)
3.1 MKEBEEE
(b) EERXZHEE (&)
(i) ELEEERE )
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EtHE
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E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit and counterparty risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

The loss allowance for other financial
assets at amortised cost as at 31 December
2021 amounted to HK$1,275,000 (2020:
HK$1,419,000) as detailed in Note 19.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and
other financial assets at amortised cost are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Other financial assets amount of HK$290,000
written off during the year (2020: Nil) are still
subject to enforcement activity.

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash and availability of
funding from an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities. Management maintains rolling
forecast of the Group’s liquidity reserves which
comprises undrawn banking facilities and cash and
cash equivalents, on the basis of expected cash
flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the date of financial
reporting to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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R EE (&)
3.1 BIREKEE @)
(c) HBELERE)

3. Financial risk management (Continued) 3.
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Less than Between Over
1year 1tob5 years 5 years Total
—FR —ZEHEF2E BEENE ey
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
At31December 2021 R=-B=-—f
+=A=+-H
Trade and other payables & 5 K H b fE{ 708 68,909 - - 68,909
Borrowings = 56,019 - - 56,019
Interest payment on EEZFEZM
borrowings 288 - - 288
Lease liabilities HERE 18,727 69,604 15,495 103,826
Interest payment on HEREZFEXN
lease liabilities 3,784 8,351 291 12,426
At 31 December 2020 R-ZZB_ZTF
+=ZR=+—H
Trade and other payables & 5 [ H 4 e (5008 51,795 - - 51,795
Borrowings = 56,984 - - 56,984
Interest payment on BB MEX
borrowings 346 - - 346
Lease liabilities HERE 21,637 83,484 15,495 120,616
Interest payment on lease FAE&E 2 F 8+
liabilities 4,480 11,983 291 16,754
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as total bank borrowings divided by
total equity.

The Group’s strategy was to maintain a solid capital
base to support the operations and development of its
business in the long term. Given its existing principal
business, management considers a gearing ratio as
measured by total bank borrowings to total equity of
not more than 50% as solid and reasonable. The table
below analyses the Group's capital structure at 31
December 2020 and 2021 as follows:

Total borrowings BIEE

Total equity BrER

Gearing ratio

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

3.

R ERE (@)
3.2 EXERER

AEBEEEARN B RREARE
BELFHECE - ARBERIRH @ ¥
W AE A SRR A LR -
AR MRS R E A RBIARIEE
PR o

REFLRBEEARE - REHEA
AEBABRIRTORE - FRRE
BIEA - BITHAEH EEE AR

DIEF

MEMRE—%  AEENEER
BLLREREEERNELE - BE
BELRRRITEEERRARRE

<=1
mu'l_# °

REBZRBEEEREENESHE
B URAZFAEENELEE
MER - ERBER s ETEELE &
BERBIRRITERLERENE
BmrtE EEBBHEEN50%
UTHBERLEE - TRAAS
BN FR T —F =
A=T—BEXREE 2 :

2021 2020
—E_—F —E-EF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
56,019 56,984
628,297 561,222
9% 10%




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying value of trade receivables, other loans
and receivables, bank balances and deposits, trade and
other payables, lease liabilities and borrowings are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values. The fair
value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash
flows at the current market interest rate that is available
to the Group for similar financial instruments.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31 December
2021 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used
to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into
three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

—  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

— inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2)

— inputs for the asset and liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3)

B A e Wi

R EE (&)
3.3 DREEMAE

B RYGRIR - At E KRR
R RITREBRER - BHMEM
FEfFR - HEREREEZRE
BERFEEZAARERE - LREM
5 eRABZANEBEBRAE
ERESRTAZRITMSMNEE
AREREHVRSRETRMEH

TRIBEEFE AL BENGER
TR FTEAR M ARER - DT
AEBPR-_Z-_—F+-_A=1+—
BRARBEARNSRTE - &
g AR AR BEEREE AN
= :

- HAEEXRBEELEMS
ZHRE CREHE) (F—-)

- RTE-EFBEZHRE
S HEER B TBE
THMBEA - AAEE (DE
1) SR (R ) ($=
)

- EBERBEIFMREAER

MRz @A CIIEABER
BwA) (E=E)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. Financial risk management (Continued) 3.

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Fair value
Hierarchy
BREBEER
Financial assets TREAE Level 2
— Investment funds —REES F-4

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during
the year.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not

R ERE (@)

3.3 DREEM @

W B BT S

z B

Fair value Fair value

as at as at

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

R=B=-% R_E_FF

t=A=t-B  t=A=t-A

HAREE R EE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

1,706 1,742
FRNF1EF2E 2 AW EERE o

EzemI A

traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.
It includes quoted market price or dealer quotes for
similar instruments. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

(GZIMTETR) - ERAETE
REETEETE - ZFHETEE
ENARAERM SIS 8E -
TEERVEEERBEMGT &
ERUERTANTISRELLE
BHRE - W—ERTANAAREM
BB ERBAZBG A EA -
AZEMTARAF _E -

4. BARETTLEHR

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of
the Group are discussed below.

ARAEBEEREGAR(BEE
HEEMHEL A B TR G
ERANERT R FE - AT REEAR
REFAKEEER AR ZREERAE

HEBRFE 2 AT RR&

afam °

(a) Provision for impairment of loan to a related

company and trade and other receivables

The policy for provision for impairment of loan to a
related company and trade and other receivables of the
Group is based on the evaluation of risk of default and
expected credit losses which involved management’s
judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the Group’s past collection history of receivables,
existing market condition as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. If the
financial conditions of any individual counterparty
were determined to be deteriorated, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
allowances may be required.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b) Provision for impairment of inventories

(9]

The management of the Group reviews the
marketability of inventory items at the end of each
reporting period, and makes allowance for obsolete
and slow-moving inventory items identified that are no
longer suitable for sale. The management estimates the
net realisable value for inventories based primarily on
the latest invoice prices and current market conditions.
The Group carries out an inventory review on a product-
by-product basis at the end of each reporting period
and makes provision for obsolete items.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment

The Group tests where the property, plant and
equipment have suffered any impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(e). The
recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
has been determined as the higher of its value in use
and its fair value less costs to sell. The recoverable
amount of the property, plant and equipment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management. Key
assumptions used in the financial budgets include gross
profit margin, net profit margin, sales growth rate and
discount rate. As a result of the impairment assessment,
no impairment charge was necessary as the recoverable
amount calculated based on value-in-use exceeds its
carrying value.

B A e Wi

4. BARSTHETRAE @

(b) 7E

(c)

SR ER

REBEEENE ERPRERT
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BHEZ B R HEFmETT
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BB REEESHERE - 13
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Segment information

The Group determines its operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker
("CODM") that are used to make strategic decisions. The
CODM has been identified as the executive directors of
the Company. The CODM assesses the performance of the
operating segments based on a measure of the results of
the segments. Finance income and costs, and corporate
income and expenses are not included in the results for each
operating segment that is reviewed by the CODM. Other
information provided to the CODM is measured in a manner
consistent with that in the financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has
two reportable segments, which are trading of pipes and
fittings (“Trading of pipes and fittings”) and manufacture
and sale of biomass pellet fuel products (“Biomass Pellet fuel
products”). The following summary describes the operations
in each of the Group’s reportable segments.

Trading of pipes and fittings includes wholesale, retail and
logistics operations substantially in Hong Kong and Macau.

Biomass pellet fuel products are contributed by a subsidiary of
the Group, E/NFEHELIRER AR (Guizhou Zhongguan
New Energy Limited*), which manufactures and sells biomass
pellet fuel products in the PRC. The Group discontinued
biomass pellet fuel products segment in 2020 and the disposal
was completed in March 2021. The results of this segment
were presented as discontinued operation for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2021. Details of this discontinued
operation are set out in Note 33.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has
only one operating segment.

* For identification purpose only
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5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment information (Continued)

The segment information for the year ended 31 December

2020 is as follow :

Revenue
Results of reportable segments

Reconciliation of results of reportable
segments to profit for the year

Results of reportable segments
Unallocated income
Unallocated expenses

Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs

Profit before income tax
Tax expense

Profit for the year

Other segment information:
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Net gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment
Reversal of provision for inventories, net
Provision for impairment of financial assets
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

LON
pa 5

PRFERFERRNHR

pa S
L ON
AR

gen
FBIMA
BHER

HAaM
B

AEEER

D HER
W% BRERRENOTE

apEENEE

LEWE  BERXELZ
Gt

0% BERLENERE

FERRERTE
ERAENHERR
ERERERE

B A e Wi

5. 2EMER @

BE-T-TEt-A=t-AL2H
AR :

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_S-RET-A=T-HILEE

Reportable segments
ERNAT
Continuing ~ Discontinued
operation operation
i ik
2EXH 2EXH
Trading of Biomass Total
pipes and pellet fuel reportable
fittings products segments  Unallocated Total
BER AMEEH By
EHES MEER DR AR 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TAT TAT TAL TAL
497,295 277 497,572 - 497,572
52,021 (16,115) 35,906 - 35,906
300
(20,241)
15,965
8,276
(6,871)
17,370
(2,466)
14,904
3,551 1,088 4,639 35 4,674
51 - 51 - 51
- (15 (15 - (15
- 9,744 9,744 - 9,744
(1,334) - (1,334) - (1,334)
409 3,124 3,533 - 3,533
25,430 - 25,430 - 25,430
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5. Segment information (Continued)

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2020

are as follows:

As at 31 December 2020

Non-current assets
Current assets

Total Assets

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Total Liabilities

RZB-SE+-A=1-H

FRBEE
mBEE

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

5. DEPER @
RZZB_ZF+_A=+—RHAZHHE
ERABWT :

Reportable segments
ATEBNHH

Trading Biomass

of pipes pellet fuel
and fittings products Unallocated Total

BER YRR
EHES AR E AR o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET FET
125,526 - 77,7141 203,267
582,765 642 29,058 612,465
708,291 642 106,799 815,732
(102,014) - - (102,014)
(144,186) (5,132) (3,178) (152,496)
(246,200) (5,132) (3,178) (254,510)
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Segment information (Continued) 5. 2EER @

Geographical information HEDIHER

The Group is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group's revenues REBEZNES - REBRMR 5 EH
from external customers by geographical location are REINEFZE P WAL

detailed below:

Revenue

A

For the year ended 31 December

BZE+-—A=+—HLEE

2021 2020
=F=—F —FIEF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FEr
Hong Kong B 638,690 460,081
Macau Ll 41,143 37,214
Mainland China FR B A 2,354 -
Continuing operation RHESBE 682,187 497,295
Discontinued operation BIEEEE - 277
682,187 497,572

The Group's non-current assets by geographical location are REEZME S FHIEREBEELNT ¢

detailed below:

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FEr
Hong Kong B 103,996 202,052
Mainland China R A 1,208 1,215
105,204 203,267
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5. Segment information (Continued) 5.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers:

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
revenue of the Group was recognised at a point in time.

Liabilities related to contracts with customers:

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to
contracts with customers:

Contract liabilities ARAaE - ETE27)
— receipts in advance (Note 27)

Contract liabilities for sales of goods contracts have increased
by HK$14,437,000 due to an increase in overall contract
activities.

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current reporting period relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities:

Revenue recognised that was FUHE R B ERE
included in the contract liabilities ERERAKA
balance at the beginning of the year

110 CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # BB %&£ B ER 2 A

DEER @)
HEFERBBADE

@ i_in&—?—? E'E+ H
=+ —BLFE  AKEHBAERE
(B ] B TR

HEFERABENAE :
AEECDERATREFAREGRNEA

&

2021 2020
—B-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
27,026 12,589

HEEMARMARABEEMNT
14,437,000/ 70 * EemREEARE
BIEANT o

TRER T A RS MEERNKAS
B2 LEEEAFRAERR

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
6,032 9,245
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Other gains, net

Net exchange gain

Net loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

(Loss)/gain on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Dividend income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Hong Kong and Macau Government
grants

BEE S s % AR

HEWE - BB KRR ZER

FER
BARBEFABRRZEH
BEZ (B1R),a
BAABEFABRZ SR
BEZBEWA
&8 LORPIR AT BN

Hth =358
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
2,136 935
(54) -
(53) 7
61 70
= 8,500
2,090 9,512
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7. Expenses by nature

Operating profit is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold (Note 18)

Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 15)

Auditor’s remuneration:
— Audit services
— Non-audit services

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 13)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 14)

Employee benefit expenses (Note 8)

Short-term and low-value lease expenses
(Note 14)

Provision for impairment of financial
assets

Provision for/(reversal of) and
write-off of inventories, net

Other expenses

Representing:

Cost of sales

Selling and distribution costs

General and administrative expenses

Provision for impairment of financial
assets

7. BAXME

E

BEHREZFERA (HFE18)
B A RS (HFE15)

(2 Gl
— EZIR
—IFEZ R
W% - BB KR I E (EE13)

EREEENE (HE14)

B T (58
MR EEREEM (HE14)

TREEMNRERRE
FERE, (B RS

HAbFAZ

K&

SRR

S 5 AR

— B RITRE
SRBERRNERE

112 CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED H BB X &£ @A R 2 A

AR B Ty MBR/(GTA) N AR B 18E

2021 2020
—EB—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
461,478 348,878
51 51
1,173 1,023
177 170
2,679 3,586
23,896 25,430
73,050 64,636
2,287 762
1,238 409
6,685 (1,334)
38,016 31,116
610,730 474,727
479,383 356,804
21,558 16,562
108,551 100,952
1,238 409
610,730 474,727




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B A
8. Employee benefit expenses 8. EERFMEX
2021 2020
:g:—ﬂi —7 —% $
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Wages, salaries and other benefits IE& - FaehEMET 70,904 62,605
Pension costs — defined contribution BRIRE KA — ERRHFRETE
plans 2,146 2,031
73,050 64,636
(a) Five highest paid individuals () EfUEREHFAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the RER - AEB RN RSFHALE
highest in the Group for the year include two (2020: FE(CE2ZTF  —)ES
two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the HEEHS O MRMIFE328 DT R o &2
analysis shown in Note 32. The emoluments paid to NTPESK=ZM(ZZT_FF =)
the remaining three (2020: three) individuals were as ALZB&IT -
follows:
2021 2020
:%ﬁ:_q’i —7 = qu
HK$’000 HK$°000
FAETT FET
Salaries and other short-term HehEMEESRETR
employee benefits 4,220 4,215
Discretionary bonus E’J’\E?Eﬁl 1,375 314
Pension costs — defined BRIRE KA — TR KT S
contribution plans 48 54
5,643 4,583
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B B B
8. Employee benefit expenses (Continued) 8. EERFAMEXZm@®
(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (a) EUBRSHEAL@E)
The emoluments of the three (2020: three) individuals ZH(ZEZEF  ZR)REFA
fell within the following bands: T2 HBN T T3 EE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001%75—1,500,000/8 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 75 —2,000,000/5 7T = -
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 752,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 7T — 3,000,000/ 7T 1 -
(b) Senior management remuneration by band (b) SHREEAEFM = EE
The remuneration of senior management fell within the RMEBABZHHMN T T &
following bands: :
2021 2020
:g:_$ — 5 = f‘f
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 £ —1,000,0007% 7T - 2
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 75— 1,500,000/8 7T 4
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/75—2,000,000/5 7T = -
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017%7T — 2,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T —3,000,000/% 7T 1 -
5 5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B A e Wi

Finance costs/(income), net

Bank and other interest income

Interest expense on bank borrowings

Interest expense on lease liabilities
(Note 14)

Tax expense

Current taxation:
Hong Kong profits tax
Overseas tax
Over provision in prior years

Total current tax
Deferred taxation (Note 26):
Origination and reversal of/(provision
for) temporary differences

Tax expense

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for
the year. Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated
on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates

9. BMBEA (BA)FE

2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
RIT R E AR BUA (4,632) (8,276)
RITIEEZFBEXZH 1,345 1,522
HEBGEZFEXH (:E14)
4,498 5,349
1,211 (1,405)
10. HIEXH
2021 2020
—EB—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
BNERRAIE -
BEFEH 10,210 2,979
GBI 536 149
NEFEZR (351) (316)
BNEATR IH 4B 2R 10,395 2,812
FEIEFIE (fi5E26) -
TR ESBCEL
N [ol, (BE) 92 (39)
RIES M 10,487 2,773

At

of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group Hoe

operates.

EEFERUAFE NGRS AR
E16.5% (ZZF=FF : 16.5%)5TIE °
YFINRIB TR IEF R 2 (AT B R R A
BEAEBEEERBRR 2BITRE
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10. Tax expense (Continued) 10. BIEXZH @)
The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from REBEBAMADE N 2 MBS HERE
the theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong KABANESHEMAE 2 EmBE L
Kong profits tax rate as follows: ERWT
2021 2020
—B-—fF —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FEr
Profit before income tax A ) 72,336 33,485
Notional tax on profit before BRI AR A1 H) BRI
taxation, calculated at the rates (B R A= EA
applicable to profits in the RN ERAE
jurisdictions concerned 11,770 5,360
Effect of different tax rates in other HAth B A 7 BRI &
jurisdictions a7 99 (237)
Unrecognised tax losses RIERTIARE 11 240
Utilisation of previously unrecognised & A ATHAARFER 2 BB E 18
tax losses (88) (331)
Tax effect of income not subject to AR WA BiIa R &
taxation (1,114) (2,626)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AL 2 S 2 FRIER £
for taxation purposes 156 682
Over provision in prior years NEFEZR (347) (315)
Tax expense MBS 10,487 2,773
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11.

12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable
to equity holders and weighted average number of ordinary
shares with adjustments where applicable as follows:

FESEXF 2NN EES
B AREIGR A

Profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company from continuing
operation

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders
of the Company from discontinued
operation

RIPEBRB 2 NN RIS
B AEERN, (B518)

AEEBREARRNZAAT
Bamis A ARMER T

Profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company for the purpose
of basic earnings per share

Number of shares BRHOEE
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic

earnings/(loss) per share

BB 2 Ik 15 AR 8K

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of dilutive potential ordinary shares
arising from the Company’s share options. There were no
diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 as there was no potential dilutive effect.

Dividend 12.

At the Board meeting held on 25 March 2022, the Board did
not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

11.

AESRERERN, (BB 2

B A e Wi

BREF (&)

TRINFFAEGRERREERN,
(BR) DIRBFAERFE ARMGER
M,/ (B18) REBTEBR 2 INEFS
& (REETARAR)

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FEIT
61,849 30,712
457 (10,560)
62,306 20,152
Thousands Thousands
FHR TR
1,332,266 1,333,111
STESREEANE  BYHBEBITER

Bz I35 B BAE L AR - DAMRAR AT
BEEEEN 2 RITEBRRETHE
Be-BaREBE_S_—FR-IT-TF
T A=1T—"BULFELEEEHETY
& FARBAEREERT -

3=

R-E-—FE= -+ R ASRTHNES
egElL EFETERREHE-FT
T—F+-A=t+—BIEEZREK

=

B
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 January 2021
Exchange differences
Additions
Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2021
Bxchange differences
Charge for the year
Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Net ook value
At 31 December 2021

2
$=3=-E-f-f
[3:53]
RE
e

WoBo-E+2f=1-H

giE
R-E--F-A-H
EiEE
TEENE
ik

R-82-F+2R=1-R

REFE
R-8--F+2R=1-R

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

13. Y% - BMERRE

Plant, Office
machinery furniture,
and  Leasehold ~fixtures and Office ~ Computer Motor
equipment  improvements fittings  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
R #% BE  BAEER
KRk DREE RERRR 0 JBRE EEER it a8
HKS 000 HKS000 HKs 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000
T&r Tin T&r fin fr Tin fr
1029 17,081 2817 123 5013 17,895 5.3
- - - - 1 - 1
82 ) - - m - 850
(1) (561) - - (1) - (590)
10,649 16,565 2817 18 5430 17,895 53,484
10,105 16,844 2,667 119 4784 15,070 49,589
- - - - 1 - 1
167 9 N 1 160 21m 2619
(12) (507) - - (1) - (536)
10,260 16,434 2138 126 4928 1747 51733
389 131 7 1 502 648 1,751




Cost

At 1 January 2020
Exchange differences
Additions
Disposals

At 31 December 2020

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2020
Exchange differences
Charge for the year
mpairment loss
Disposals

At 31 December 2020

Net book value
At 31 December 2020

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B A e Wi

A
W-F-FE-A-H
EizE
TE
ik

WoB-EEL2f=1-H

giE
R-E-5E-A-H
EiEE
TERHE
RERE
it

H-2-2E+2f=1-R

BH3E
A-Z-RE2R=1-A

13. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

13. ¥ - MERRE @

Plant, Office
machinery fumiture,
and Leaschold ~fixtures and Office Computer Motor
equipment — improvements fitngs ~ equipment equipment vehicles Total
iR 82 L e
RE  MERE RERRR 0 XERE  shdk i i
Hs oo Hs Hs o0 Hs Hes o0 st S0
7L T T T T Tir T
9,049 16,705 270 13 4969 1789 52,061
3N 316 9 5 3 - 853
26 - - - 1] - 33
(4 - - - - i (54
1029 17,081 2817 18 5013 17895 533
415 12,003 1426 5 4662 12122 34385
350 38 % 4 3 - 79
588 i 3 19 119 2988 4674
5061 3716 928 Bl - - 9,744
0 - - - - - 0
10,105 16,844 2,667 119 4784 15070 49589
124 ] 150 9 289 2805 3634
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SR B R P T
13. Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 13. Y% - BERRE@
Depreciation was recorded in the following categories: WERN T ETH
2021 2020
—E-—-F —EETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FErT TFET
General and administrative expenses —MRITHER 2,679 3,586
Depreciation recognised in continuing 15484 B XK ER 2
operation (Note 7) e (BsE7) 2,679 3,586
Depreciation recognised in RIEEEEBPHERZ
discontinued operation HE = 1,088
Total depreciation EER 2,679 4,674
14. Lease 14. HE

(a) ZEPBRRKRPEANSHE

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows FEVBHRAKREINATEREE

the following amounts relating to leases:

Right-of-use assets
Building
Equipment

Total right-of-use assets

Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current

Total lease liabilities

ERERE
BF
By

EREEERR
HERE

VinEZ)

e

HERERRE

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

ZEE
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
R-ZZE-—F RIZEZTF
+=ZA=+—8 +=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
95,753 113,809
727 1,168
96,480 114,977
18,727 21,637
85,099 98,979
103,826 120,616




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B A e Wi

14. Lease (Continued) 14. HE @
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) FEMBRARTERNEE
statement of financial position (Continued) (#&)
Additions to the right-of-use assets amounted to FREEERNBE_TS-_—F1+=
HK$5,399,000 during the year ended 31 December A=+—HBI-FE# 5,399,000
2021 (2020: HK$5,765,000). BT (ZZEZF : 5,765,000/%
o) °
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) GERBERFERNEEE

income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the following FEWAREIIATERHEEZ S
amounts relating to lease: :

paiid
P}

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEFE

2021 2020
—E-—F ZECTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (H7)
(Note 7)
Buildings EF 23,454 24,985
Equipment B 442 445
23,896 25,430
Interest expense on lease HEABZHE
liabilities (Note 9) S (fHE9) 4,498 5,349
Short-term and low-value lease CHNEEBEEEEER
expenses (Note 7) (FsE7) 2,287 762
The total cash payment for lease amounted to HE-_T-_—4+=-_HA=+—H
HK$28,974,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 LTFEEHEBE RSN REE
(2020: HK$29,118,000). /328,974,000 T (Z T -FF :

29,118,000587T) °
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14. Lease (Continued)

(c)

(d)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, retail
shops and staff quarters. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 1 to 10 years but may have
extension options as described below. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain various
terms and conditions.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in
terms of managing contracts. The majority of extension
and termination options held are exercisable only by the
Group and not by the respective lessor.

15. Intangible assets

Trademark 5L

Opening net book amount BRI HE
Accumulated amortisation ENE £

Closing net book amount HRABREFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021, amortisation expense
of HK$51,000 (2020: HK$51,000) is included in “cost of
sales” (Note 7).

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

14. HE @&

(c)

(d)

AEENHEHEFBREARS
%

AEBHEEZEBAE -
EEMEIES - HO—RETA
HI1Z 104 - MERTREARIR T X Pt
HEERRE - AERTIRERIE%E
W& BB E S E NIRRT -

rE T

BERAIRER

AEBNBHMERERSEBM
RIDEREE - BLRFNERBE®
EREERERMIREEEIEZEED
BRAL o RESDBEMR LR ERE
[ERAKEITRE - MIFHARAH
HATTEE -

5. BVEE

BHE

= .

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET T

426 477
(51) (51)

375 426

_$:—¢+—ﬂ _-I——EJJ:¢

F 51,000/%7E)EE+AF$¢J’%E}Z$J (Bﬁ
57) -



16. Subsidiaries 16.

17.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Details of principal subsidiaries which, in the Directors’
opinion, materially affect the results and/or net assets of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, are set out in Note 36.

Financial instruments by category 17.

Financial assets included in BREEHREVERRRN
consolidated statement of EREE:
financial position:

Financial assets at amortised cost SR AT ENSREE

Trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables

Pledged certificate of deposit (Note 21)

Pledged bank deposits (Note 21)

Cash and bank balances (Note 22)

e IR
BB (fEE21)
EHEMRITER (HaE21)
Be kiRiTs (:E22)

BAREEFABRZ
R E E (FIEE20)

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (Note 20)

Total Rk

B A e Wi

B B 2 B
EERREAEBZRER TN _F
T+ A=t HZFEEBKE
AFEZ TEWMBRF 2 FBENHE
36 °

BEREINEMTIA

BIREFR - Be R E M

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ECFF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
251,363 217,117
10,000 10,000
36,000 36,000
172,084 189,088
1,706 1,742
471,153 453,947
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17. Financial instruments by category (Continued)

18.

Financial liabilities included in
consolidated statement of
financial position:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables
Borrowings (Note 25)

Lease liabilities (Noted 14(a))

Total

Inventories

Raw materials
Merchandises

17. REFE ST A @)

2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
BEEFETHR RN
sEas:
LR At Enemas
E 5 REMENFIE 68,909 51,795
BEE (H5E25) 56,019 56,984
HEEE(f5E14G) 103,826 120,616
xR 228,754 229,395
18. &
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
GUuERS = 67
725 o 280,094 192,101
280,094 192,168

At 31 December 2021, the provision for impairment of
inventories amounted to approximately HK$18,039,000

(2020: HK$13,399,000).

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included
in cost of sales amounted to HK$461,478,000 (2020:

HK$348,878,000) (Note 7).

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

R-ZB-—F+-A=+—H FEH
EREHE18,039,0008 L (T =%
£ :13,399,000/87C) °

RELHETINABEEXNARBENZFE
Ak ANiEA461,478,00008 T (Z 2 B4 -
348,878,000/ 7T) (Ffis¥7) °



19. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Less: loss allowance (Note 3(b)(ii))

Prepayments

Loan to a related party (Note 30(d))

Rental deposits

Other receivables, deposits and
other assets

Less: loss allowance (Note 3(b)(ii))

Loan to a related company
(Note 30(e))
Less: loss allowance (Note 3(b)(ii))

Total of trade and other receivables,

deposits and prepayments
Less: included in non-current assets

Rental deposits and other assets

Loan to a related company
(Note 30(e))

Included in current assets

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments approximate their fair values.

The loan to a related party is unsecured, interest at 8% per
annum and repayable on 8 May 2022 (Note 30(d)).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B A e Wi

19. E5 K E b FEWRFRIE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
=) e e 160,756 127,586
B R EE (BT EE 3(b)Gi)) (1,202) (110)
,,,,,,,, Rl @ 127
FEfIER 57,998 50,576
BT —{rREE AL (F5E30(d) 2,000 <
HE®S 6,617 6,242
HEih e IE - e
Ht&eE 6,191 6,988
B E RS (BERE3 b)) (1,151) (1,295)
,,,,,,,,, e 52511
ERT—REELT
(B3E30(e)) 78,276 77,830
R TR (BT EE3 (b)) (124) (124)
78,152 77,706
o5 REMEBWFIE - e R
TEf FR4ERE 309,361 267,693
B BIEEIEREBEES
HERSNEMEE (6,598) (6,524)
BERT—RBELT
(Fft3E30(e)) = (77,706)
BIEERBEET 302,763 183,463
B RINGIE - HMERGRIE - Ee &
ENRZEmMSHEERSE QA EEE

sy

Ho

8%t B IR

1B3& (F3E 30(d)) °

BERF (BB ALTITEER F58
—E-—FFHA)\HAI
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19. Trade and other receivables (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

ATHEEEHE -

19. B 5 Kk HE At W ()
REEE 5 K AU R 2 RE S8

2021 2020
—EB—F —ETF

HK$°000 HK$°000

FET FET

HK$ BIT 168,347 137,873
RMB AREE 1,620 689
usD E7T 133,712 127,769
MOP SR 5,682 1,358
Others Hib = 4
309,361 267,693

The Group generally grants credit period of 60-90 days to its
customers for its trading of pipes and fittings operation. The
ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the due
date is as follows:

AEBE-RETEEREMHEIERT
FZIEEMRB60E90XK « B 5 FIA
BB ZREAITIT -

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FEr

Within credit period ZEHR 104,189 83,145
1 to 30 days 1XE30K 33,300 27,323
31 to 60 days 31KE60K 15,715 11,345
61 to 90 days 61RKZEI0K 3,982 3,253
91 to 120 days 91KE120K 1,461 417
Over 120 days BiB120K 2,109 2,103
160,756 127,586
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19. Trade and other receivables (Continued)

20.

The closing loss allowance for all trade receivables reconcile

B A e Wi

19. E5 K E b FEWFIE (@)

FTE B 5 e WSRO B R B 1R 3 e ER R

to the opening loss allowance are as follows: EERENLEIRAT
HK$000
FEITL
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 NZE-EF+ - A=+ —HHEERE (110)
Loss allowance for trade receivables ‘f@’f%ﬁﬁﬂﬂlmlﬁﬁ’]@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ (1,092)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 = = +—HNEERE (1,202)

The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.

There was loss allowance of HK$1,202,000 for trade
receivables as at 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$110,000).

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and
the Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk and credit risk
can be found in Note 3.1.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is
the fair value of each class of receivables mentioned above.
Save as disclosed above, the Group does not hold any
collateral as security.

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

AEBERBBRBHEREENFIREG
EEAERREEER  RAEES
FERRIAN B EFE R A TR B
1

R-ZZB-_—F+_-_A=+—H Z%5&
WA R BB B 51,202,000/ 7T °
(ZZ == 110,000/87T) °

B E S RUGRIR R E &A% E @ iR
SMNEE [\ i K2 A5 B R 0 B R B I A
3.1

REERBMZEAEERRS LA ER
ERMRIBZ R {E - B EXFTRERSN -
AR R B S (A an (A

20. BERRBEEFARSZEHEE

2021 2020

:g: - qi — 7 —= i

HK$000 HK$°000

FET FEIT

Investment funds at fair value — unlisted IZAR BEMNREES —FE LT 1,706 1,742
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21.

22,

Pledged bank deposits and certificate of
deposit

As at 31 December 2021, bank deposits of HK$36,000,000
(2020: HK$36,000,000) denominated in HK$ were pledged as
collateral for the Group’s banking facilities (Note 25).

The effective interest rate on pledged bank deposits was
0.19% (2020: 0.47%) per annum and these deposits are
maturing within 3 to 109 days (2020: 13 to 155 days).

As at 31 December 2021, certificate of deposit of
HK$10,000,000 (2020: HK$10,000,000) was denominated in
HK$ and was pledged as collateral for the Group’s banking
facilities (Note 25). The effective interest rate on the pledged
certificate of deposit is 0.34% (2020: 1.22%) per annum
and this deposit is maturing within 74 days (2020: 71 days).

Cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances HE RIRTTEH

Maximum exposure to credit risk AEZHESEER

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

21. BEEBBITERREFERE

RZTEZ—F+=RAR=+—80"
36,000,000 L (=224 :
36,000,000/ 70) LA TEHE Z R1T1F
HETFUER  (EAREERITEEE
&2 R (BiE25) -

BEBBITERZEBINEAEF R

019%(4747¢ 0.47%) » WETF
BRZHEBHENFIREI09K (ZE-Z

¢-13%I155%)

W—_ZET-_—F+-_A=+—8"
10,000,000 L (ZE=FF :
10,000,000 7T) LA TTEHE 2 E3GE
ETUER - EAREBERITEES
EZ R (H5E25) - BHEBFERE
BN EAFR0.34% (ZTE-TF :
1.22%) ' Bz RS E74RANEE (=
E-_FTF 71K) o

22. BE KRBTSR

2021 2020
—EB—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
172,084 189,088
171,761 188,853




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22. Cash and bank balances (Continued)

23.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and bank balances
are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BIT
RMB AR
usD E7T
Others EA

Funds of the Group amounting to approximately
HK$24,148,000 (2020: HK$24,823,000) are kept in the
bank accounts opened with banks in the PRC where the
remittance of funds is subject to foreign exchange control.

Share capital

At 1 January 2020
Repurchase of shares and cancelled (Note)

At 31 December 2020

At 1 January and 31 December 2021 S

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company
repurchased a total of 1,004,000 ordinary shares of the Company at
an aggregate cost of approximately HK$86,444 (excluding expenses).
The highest price paid and the lowest price paid were HK$0.088
and HK$0.085 per share respectively. All repurchased shares were
cancelled and the issued share capital of the Company was reduced
by the nominal value of these shares accordingly. The premium

payable on repurchase was charged against the share premium.

B A e Wi

22. BERBITESR@

AEE RS RRITERREA S RIZ
ATNEEEHE

2021 2020
—EB—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
129,841 143,044
14,157 14,784
25,093 26,853
2,993 4,407
172,084 189,088

NEBES 4 524,148,000 T (==
T T4 124,823,000 7T) FHAFE
MIRTTRIR ZIRITER, BEHES AR
HNEEH o

23. |4
Number of
shares issued
S2RITRHOEE
thousands HK$'000
ik FET
1,333,270 26,665
(1,004) (20)
H 1,332,266 26,645
1,332,266 26,645
BaE -

HE_T-_ZF+_A=+—HIFE &
AAEEIEE $£1,004, 0000 A A T E WAL - 42
AR /386,444 8 TT (T RIEFX) - P2
2 BREEEIREED R /0.088/E TR
0.08587T - 2#REIE Z I B XL -
ARRZ BETRADHERZERN 2 E
BETFLAHIR - BB BN ZEE SRR
mEFRR
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23. Share capital (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Issued shares

The authorised share capital of the Company was
HK$500,000,000, comprising 25,000 million shares
with a par value of HK$0.02 per share. All issued shares
are fully paid.

Share option scheme

The share option scheme approved by the shareholders
of the Company on 24 June 2004 (the “2004 Scheme")
has expired on 23 June 2014. Thereafter, no further
options will be granted under the 2004 Scheme but
the subsisting options granted thereunder prior to the
expiry date will continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms of the 2004 Scheme.

All share options granted under the 2004 scheme were
lapsed in May 2020. As at 31 December 2021, there
was no share available for issue upon exercise of all
options which were granted under the 2004 Scheme in
aggregate.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 21 May 2015, the shareholders of the Company
approved the adoption of a new share option scheme
(the “2015 Scheme”) under which the directors of
the Company may grant options to eligible persons to
subscribe for the Company’s shares subject to the terms
and conditions as stipulated therein. Unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, the 2015 Scheme will remain
valid for a period of 10 years from the date of its
adoption.

No share option under the 2015 Scheme was granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed, during the current year
nor outstanding as at 31 December 2021.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

23. 7 ()

(a)

(b)

22TRM%M

RRGEERA /500,000,000
B AEREMEC.02F T
25,000,000,000/%#8R% - FTE C %
TR EE R -

BT S

ARBBRRR -_ZEZMFRA
—tHBEZBRERE (=T
TMEAEDER T —IFERA
:JrEEIEiﬁ% ° BE1& - BHERE

TOFEAEBEROBEE - AR
Elﬁ B HRRE — T2 R8I F
R Z B RS A E R R A T
17l »

PrERIE—STMFEABIR L 2B
BER-_Z_TFRAARERK -
R-FB-_—F+-A=1+—H &
B TTMER B 2 BARE
BBITERALEAIHETRND -

R-ZE—RAFRA-+—HET2Z
ARaRRBFRE £ ARF
AR R AL E RN FTRERREET B ([ =
—hEFE] - Bl - KARES
AAE BB AT DERE - LR
BARNEIRG AR -_Z—RF
FTEIRE 2 R RAGHEFT AR © B
STBUESISETIN - ZF—RFE
B 5 AR B AR T F ER 4
FEH

RAE Z IR E B R IR
“T-REFFEERE 17 &
R - TN T —
FHZA=+—HRHRETE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. Share capital (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme (Continued)

The Company was authorised to grant share options
under the 2015 Scheme for subscription of up to a total
of 133,327,000 shares, representing 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of adoption.
The directors of the Company are authorised at their
absolute discretion, to invite any eligible participants as
defined in the Scheme, to take up options to subscribe
for shares in the Company. The subscription price will
be determined by the Board, but shall be at least the
highest of (a) the closing price of shares as stated in the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on
the date on which the relevant options are deemed to
be granted and accepted in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme (“the Commencement Date"”), which
must be a day on which the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
is open for the business of dealing in securities (“Trading
Day”); (b) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet for the five Trading Days immediately
preceding the Commencement Date; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares. A consideration of HK$10
is payable on acceptance of the grant of option. The
maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the 2015 Scheme may not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of adoption of the 2015 Scheme. The
number of shares may be refreshed by the approval of
the shareholders and the refreshed limit of the number
of shares must not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the approval
of the refreshed limit.

B A e Wi

23. R @)
(b) REARAEETE ()

AARVERERE T — AT
AREBEREURERZAH
133,327,0008% /%1% - (R4 B
HARRREBITRAZ210% © &%
EARREZZRBNEEBTNE
EwsmE (& RERETE)Z
MR REBA DB 2 BAHE - B
BEBHESSET  ETNSER
(@M E A IEN R AIRRE
AT B RR B R E B ([F
WEH]) (BAEBHITEEE
FEBEEBZEH(RSH]))E
ERBRTFERERATHRZ T
& (bR EEFIE B ERNEE
AR B BEREBIAFARE
KR FHWHE - ROQBMHE
BE=FhHmed  BERARHZE
DRERRIERS - AR ABEZ 108
TRE - BE-Z—AFHEASH
ZERES R B EaHEE T
BRAEM_E—AEHEAEAAR
NRIBBETRAZ10% ° BRIDEE
AR R - WEE 2K
DHE LRTESBBIEEH LR
2 HEARBEBEITRAZ10% °
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23. BA& @)
(b) MERESE @

23. Share capital (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme (Continued)

Movement in the number of share options outstanding E_ZZNFFE  RZZ_ZTF
during the year of 2020 under the 2004 Scheme are as FA - MARITEBRER E Zﬂ@)
follows: wr
Exercise Granted
Price 31 December and 31 December
Date of grant Date of maturity HKS 2019 accepted Exercised Lapsed 2020
:i—ﬂi —? — ?E
e TZA TZA
RitAH H#A AT =+-0 CEHLER BT RES =t+-H
5 May 2010 4 May 2020
—Z-TFhATA “Z-TFhAMA 083 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) -
Total 2% 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000 -
As at 31 December 2021, there are no outstanding RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—8H
share options (2020 Nil). BERBAITEMNBERE(CE=F
Fm) o
The estimated fair value of share options granted under E_TTNFLE - SRHERE

the 2004 Scheme is based on the Binomial model. The MEFT AR EERE B GHEE

significant inputs into the models are as follows: AEtE - HAZRANEEL8U0
T

5 May 2010

—E-EF

Date of grant ®E B AAEH
Exercise price 1T HK$0.83
Expected volatility TE AR I8 55%
Option life B R 5 AR 10 years
10 F

Annual risk free interest rate FREERBFIE 2.86%
Dividend yield ELX 3.10%
Fair value NRfBE HK$0.26 ~ HK$0.38

The expected volatility measured at the standard
deviation is based on the historical data of the weekly
share price movement of comparable companies of the

Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. Share capital (Continued)
(b) Share option scheme (Continued)

(i) On 5 May 2010 under the 2004 Scheme,
1,600,000 share options were offered to and
accepted by a Director and an employee, with an
exercise price of HK$0.83 and an option period
of 10 years commencing from 5 May 2010 and
expiring on 4 May 2020 (both days inclusive).
The options granted to the grantees are vested in
stages and be exercised in the following manner:

Maximum percentage
of the options exercisable

B A e Wi

23. RA& @
(b) fERESE @

)y E-_ZZTWF:E - RZF
—ZEERAFER - AEEMA
EEREEEHICEER
1,600,00017 FE AR #E - 2508
MHEZITEER0.83 BT R
BREBRATE BHZZ
—fiﬂﬂﬂaﬁﬂﬁui_7

TERAMNBEH(REY
J:ﬁﬁEl) BT A AR B
EEDEERE - WIRNAT
FAITE

Period for exercise of the relevant
percentage of the options

ATEZBRERSE L 1TAEAEBARE IR | 20 L 2 HAPR
20% 5/11/2010 — 4/5/2020
20% 5/11/2011 - 4/5/2020
20% 5/11/2012 - 4/5/2020
20% 5/11/2013 - 4/5/2020
20% 5/11/2014 - 4/5/2020

(i) Vesting of certain options granted to certain
employees are subject to achievement of profit
target.

(i) RYETEEZE TERE
RERGEMNBEFE T REET
BRAREE -
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24. Reserves 24. #1E
Share-
Capital Merger based
Share reserve reserve  Statutory Other  Exchange  payment  Retained
premium (notef)) (ot (fj) reserve reserve reserve feserve  eamings Total
Whh
LU AEEN

RR® ) o iRk RHEE  ERBR  MRER AW #8
WSO HKSOWD HSO AKSODD SO AKSOWD SO AKSOD SO

= P T = o= = = o= = =
THEr Tk T&r THr THT THr THr H= g
B oy, 7 BT 7 2 5 g

At 1 January 2020 N-5%F-F-H 126,618 115 3700 U 1,731 (483 349 37,102 517,15%
Proftfor the year RERE - - - - - - - 019 019
Corencytranslaton differences ~ SHAEEE - - - - - 3% - - 33
Repurchase of shares and cancelled R 3 (66) - - - - - - - (66)
Actuaria gain on postemployment EBAETIERMRE

benefitobligations, netof tax W - H R - - - - 184 - - - 184
Transfer upon lapse of share options - I EX R - - - - - - (349 34 -
At 31 December 2020 and N-E-EE

1 January 2001 TZA=+-BR

“E-F-3-B 126,552 3115 3700 i 1915 (145) - 371,603 537,164

Profitfor the year RERH - - - - - - - 62,306 62,306

Curency ranslgton diferences ~ EMAEZE - - - - - 275 - - 215

Disposal ofsubsicris HENELE - - - - - 835 - - 835

Deregistraton of a subsidiay gL - - - - - 153 - - 18

Actuariel gan on postemployment BB AR TIERARE

benefit obigations, netof tax i TR - - - - 319 - - - 39

At 31 December 2021 R-B-£12R

=t-8 126,552 3115 3,700 U 234 1118 - 433909 601,652

Notes: Hfat -

(i) The capital reserve of the Group mainly represents contribution () AEEZEREBETIERER—NAANLSE
from the shareholders in connection with the acquisition of the W —RM B AR 2 TERERERA
remaining interests in a subsidiary in 1999. B Rt o

(i) The merger reserve of the Group arising from the Group (iy AEBRESEBESEHEmMEL A HEE -
reorganisation is determined by the difference between the IREBERABAZHNB ARG EE
nominal value of shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant EIRVEE 1T 2 AR BRI (D E{EME
to the Group reorganisation and the nominal value of the CERAETE °

Company'’s shares deemed to have been issued.
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25. Borrowings

Current

Trust receipt loans, secured (note (i)
Trust receipt loans, unsecured

Notes:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B A e Wi

25. B &
2021 2020
—E-— —ETF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET

FE

BRI ETBIEE R ) 46,712 28,623
R ETWIEER 9,307 28,361
56,019 56,984

Mt

(i)  The carrying amounts of the trust receipt loans approximate
their fair values. As at 31 December 2021, the banking facilities
were granted with an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$262,300,000 (2020: HK$267,300,000) of which
approximately HK$200,500,000 (2020: HK$206,300,000) had
not been utilised. These banking facilities were secured by
corporate guarantees, bank deposits of HK$36,000,000 (2020
HK$36,000,000) and certificate of deposit of HK$10,000,000

(2020: HK$10,000,000).

iy ERWEERZEmSBEEARSAAE
HE RN E-_—F+-_A=+—8"
ERMIRTTRLE %49 45262,300,000
BT (ZZT_F4F : 267,300,000/
JT) © HAF#7200,500,0008 L (=
T T4 : 206,300,000/ 7T) HA
A ZERTHERQIAER
$R1T1E 5 #136,000,0008 T (==
F 4 136,000,000/ 7) RIERE
#310,000,0008 T (ZZE == F :
10,000,000/ 7T) 1E3EIH ©

(i) The borrowings are denominated in the following currency: (iy EEUTYEBIE -
2021 2020
—E-—F T TF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
HK$ BT 56,019 56,984
(i) The effective interest rates (per annum) of bank borrowings at (i) RUEREDR - RITEEZERFH X
the financial reporting date are as follows: Ol
2021 2020
=% —2o%%
Trust receipt loans FEFEBIRER 2.27% 2.36%
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26. Deferred taxation 26. IEIERIIE
2021 2020
—B-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET TFET
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled T EAREE
after 12 months RIERIERE (1,663) (1,508)
Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences under the BIERIERA 8RR BB B ARTE
liability method using tax rates of the relevant subsidiaries HEESRLARAE CHEMERZ
applicable to the period when the asset is expected to be ME R BREACSE MR EEBM)
realised or the liability to be settled, based on tax rates that TER S -
have been substantively enacted by the financial reporting
date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a ?D.?ﬁiﬁi%%‘]ﬂﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁlﬁﬁiﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬂ
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against MIRE FEHE - ﬁﬁ%ﬁkﬁlﬁﬁ?&‘
current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and MRS EY KA — e -
liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation JERH AR KT RN ERTEA T*ﬁ_fﬁh
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable HRELOFHEE - AP BRERIBEE
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on BURAER I B B B AR o
a net basis.
The net movement on the deferred tax account is as follows: EETIIAAR B 2 #EhFEaT -
2021 2020
—B=-—-F —TFTF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FEr
At 1 January n—HA—H (1,508) (1,816)
(Charged)/credited to income statement 7E4RzE &+ (FK) 5 A
— Continuing operation (Note 10) — B EEK (MEE10) (92) 39
— Discontinued operation (Note 33) — R B (M1FE33) = 307
Charged to equity TERE R IR (63) (36)
Exchange differences ME 3 =R = (2)
At 31 December B+=-—A=+—H (1,663) (1,508)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

26. Deferred taxation (Continued) 26.

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during
the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of
balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

F B S o M
IESER IR (4)

ELERAEERABERFRZEECR
R AR R A2 ER) W

Deferred tax liabilities EEHRESE
Remeasurement
gain of post-
employment
Accelerated tax benefit
depreciation obligations Lease Total
PRARTER
MERERE  HETERS ik @
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2020 W-Z-ZTF-HF—H (944) (342) (530) (1,816)
Credited/(charged) to income statement  ZEUERA A/ (F1B) 746 - (400) 346
Charged to equity i Fatabiliy - (36) - (36)
Exchange differences ELES @) - - (2)
At 31 December 2020 and RZZ-EET-A=1-H
1 January 2021 k=E--F-f—H (200) (378) (930) (1,508)
Credited/(charged) to income statement ZEIEERT A/ (5) 190 - (282) (92)
Charged to equity ERERR - (63) = (63)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—&#+-A=1—H (10) (441) (1,212) (1,663)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is
probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of HK$2,248,000 (2020: HK$2,919,000) in respect
of accumulated tax losses amounting to HK$10,005,000
(2020: HK$14,545,000) as at 31 December 2021, that can
be carried forward against future taxable income. As at 31
December 2021, the accumulated tax losses amounting to
HK$7,023,000 (2020: HK$7,023,000) will be expired in five
years. There is no expiry period for the other tax losses.

EESHEBEEET)AEMERBERG
f'JﬁﬁT}éi@fﬁﬂUéﬁu%fﬂxmﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
PATAE 2 MIBEEERER - %
@Ifﬁﬁﬁf?f—i‘f’ A=+—
AAEE DK RRERTUA 2
E%EHFEIEJ%E1o,oos,ooo;‘%fc(:%@
ZE4E 1 14,545,000 70) BERIE T
Fri8fiIEEE?2,248,0008 L (— & =
T :2,919,0008L) c RZT = —
F+-_A=+—8H" EZSE%EHFLIE
E5183E 7,023,000 T (ZE_Z ¢
7,023,000/ 7T) © iR AF AN -
fth 5 TR 5 18 30 4 i BB o
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27. Trade payables, other payables and contract 27. EZENRIE - HENRER

liabilities cREE
2021 2020
—E-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FErT TFET
Trade payables B S e IR 56,604 37,237
Contract liabilities ERA%E 27,026 12,589
Accrued expenses and other payables — FE1R & & E fth fE < 7k 18 24,920 21,185
108,550 71,011

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on AEEESREMNFIENRRIREZAH
the invoice date, is as follows: DT

Within 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
Over 90 days

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables, other
payables and contract liabilities are denominated in the

following currencies:

HK$
usD
RMB
Others

30K AR
31RKE60K
61KE90K
HBEHI0K

BT
ey
AR
Hit

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
51,350 29,186
3,085 4,183
1,679 2,058
490 1,810
56,604 37,237

AEE B HRENFIA - RN IR
ReEmEBEZERESRRATEER

fg :

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

52,159 32,088

48,575 29,104

653 5,737

7,163 4,082

108,550 71,011




28.

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Commitments
Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had capital
commitments of HK$558,000 (2020: HK$1,751,000) in
respect of Enterprise Resources Planning system contracted
for but not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements.

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash
flows

Cash flows from operations

B A e Wi

28. &I
BAREYE

RZEBE_—F+-A=+—8 ' £5£H
B EERRE RFEF558,0008
TL(ZZE=_ZF : 1,751,000 7T) &R
BANRRERE B 75 ik B o) & AN
¥ o

29. RERERMEBRMWEE

REXBEEZRERE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
Profit before income tax from FHEL B AR T
continuing operation 72,336 33,485
Loss before income tax from BRIEEBEB 2 BRSE
discontinued operation (344) (16,115)
71,992 17,370
Adjustments for: TN REE
Amortisation of intangible assets A EEH 51 51
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BB MREOITE
equipment 2,679 4,674
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 23,896 25,430
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEWE - BEREEZ
plant and equipment, net (note) B8, (W) F 58 (M) 54 (15)
Interest income FLEMA (4,632) (8,276)
Interest expense FEZH 5,843 6,871
Provision for impairment of financial BEEENRERE
assets 1,238 3,533
Provision for/(reversal of) and write-off ~ 1F&E &, ([E#) K i g5 48
of inventories, net 6,685 (1,334)
Provision for impairment of property, Mm% - BB MR ERRERE
plant and equipment - 9,744
Loss/(gain) on financial assets at fair BARBEFABRZE/E
value through profit or loss ERER () 53 @)
Dividend income from financial assets XA A BEFAERZZSHE
at fair value through profit or loss ErRR B A (61) (70)
Exchange difference V& =5 (583) (1,116)
Changes in working capital: HEEeE
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEdEm,md (94,677) 692
Increase in trade and other receivables ‘& 5 [ E i FEUL FRIEIE AN (42,946) (32,048)
Increase in trade payables, other payables B 2 S 38  E B FIE KR
and contract liabilities ERIEEEM 42,695 11,852
Net cash generated from operations REEBEE ST 12,287 37,351
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29. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash
flows (Continued)

29. IRERERERMT @
Cash flows from operations (Continued) REXBREECRERE (@)

Note: Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

Wt - HEME - BEMRBZAEREAER

comprises: 1
2021 2020
—E-—F ZETF
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net book amount BREFE 54 45
(Loss)/gain on disposal HEZ (518) i (54) 15
Proceeds from disposal HEFTSRIE - 60
Represented by: R«
Cash Re - 60
The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities SREBEEANBENEERAT
is as follows:
Borrowings Lease liabilities Total
f& HESE k]
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2020 R-E-FF—f—H (47,384) (138,695) (186,079)
Cash flows Beng (9,600) 23,006 13,406
Addition nNE - (5,765) (5,765)
Non-cash movement on leases, net ~ HERIFR L LS FHE - 838 838
As at 31 December 2020 and RZE-EF+-_A=+—HAK
1 January 2021 —“Z-—%—B-H (56,984) (120,616) (177,600)
Cash flows Beng 965 22,189 23,154
Addition NE = (5,399) (5,399)
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+-A=1—H (56,019) (103,826) (159,845)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. Related party transactions
Transactions for the year

(a) Key management compensation

Salaries and other short term
employee benefits

Pension costs - defined
contribution plans

(b) Rental payment to related parties

Rental paid to a related
company (note 1)
Rental paid to a related party (note 2)

(B=ED
(Ht&E2)

Notes:

1. The Group paid rental of a car licence to a company
controlled by Mr. Lai Guanglin, the former executive
director and Chairman of the Company who resigned
on 30 March 2018 and currently a major shareholder
of the Group, for a fixed sum of RMB12,000 (equal to
HK$14,500) per month as agreed by both parties. This
is also a connected transaction which is exempted under
the Listing Rules 14A.76.

2. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
paid rental expenses in relation to a rental contract
entered into with a director of a subsidiary company for
HK$31,000 per month as agreed by both parties. The
director resigned on 31 August 2021. As at 31 December
2021, the Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of approximately HK$455,000 and HK$458,000
respectively over the relevant property lease.

These connected transactions which are exempted under
Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.
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30. Related party transactions (Continued)
Transactions for the year (Continued)

(c) Consultancy fees to related parties

Consultancy fee paid to a related
company (note)

B E ()

Note:

From 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020, the Group paid
consultancy fee to a company owned by Mr. Lai, for a fixed
sum of HK$248,000 per month as agreed by both parties.
This is a connected transaction which is exempted under Rule
14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

On 1 April 2020, the Group entered into a consultancy
agreement with a company directly wholly-owned by Mr. Lai,
the controlling shareholder of the Company, for a fixed sum of
HK$373,000 per month for one year from 1 April 2020 to 31
March 2021.

On 1 April 2021, the Group entered into a consultancy
agreement with a company directly wholly-owned by Mr.
Lai, the controlling shareholder of the Company, for a fixed
sum of HK$373,000 per month for one year from 1 April
2021 to 31 March 2022 respectively. It constitutes continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and is subject to the reporting, announcement and annual
review requirements but is exempted from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. Related party transactions (Continued)

Transactions for the year (Continued)

(d) Loan to a related party

(e)

Loan to a related party (note)

Note:

On 9 November 2021, the Group advanced a loan of
HK$2,000,000 to a related party. The loan is unsecured,
carrying interest at 8% per annum and repayable on 8 May
2022. This is a connected transaction which is exempted under
Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, interest income from
loan to a related party amounted to approximately HK$23,000.

Loan to a related company

On 1 August 2016, the Group advanced a loan of
US$10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$77,746,000) to
China Victory International Holdings Limited ("CVIL"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Agria Corporation, for a
term of 3 years.

The loan carried interest at 10.5% per annum and was
repayable by 31 July 2019. The loan was secured by the
entire issued shares of CVIL executed by Agria Group
Limited (“AGL"), the immediate holding company
of CVIL, and also guaranteed by a deed of corporate
guarantee executed by Agria Corporation in favour
of the Group. Mr. Lai Guanglin, a then director and
ultimate controlling party of the Company, is also a
controlling shareholder of Agria Corporation.
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(e)
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2021 2020
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30. Related party transactions (Continued)
Transactions for the year (Continued)

(e) Loan to a related company (Continued)

Pursuant to a resolution passed in a special general
meeting on 23 February 2018, the Group and CVIL
agreed to novate and AGL, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Agria Corporation and the immediate holding
company of CVIL, agreed to assume the Group's loan to
CVIL of US$10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$78,357,000)
with all other terms and conditions remained
unchanged.

On 9 May 2019, the Group entered into a loan
agreement (“2019 Loan Agreement”) with AGL to
renew the loan of US$10,000,000 and the annual caps
from 1 August 2019 to 31 July 2022.

Under the 2019 Loan Agreement, the clause of the
share mortgage executed by AGL, being the sole
shareholder of CVIL, over the entire issued shares of
CVIL in favour of the Group has been removed. Save
as the above amendments, all other terms of the 2019
Loan Agreement remain unchanged and continue in full
force and effect.

On 21 July 2020, the Group and Agria Group Limited
("AGL") agreed to enter into a supplemental loan
agreement (”2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement”)
to adjust downward the interest rate for each of the
interest period from ten point five per cent (10.5%) of
the Loan per annum to five point five per cent (5.5%)
of the Loan per annum.

The loan was also secured by a share charge which
executed by the AGL in favour of the Group as a
continuing security and continuing obligation for
performance by the AGL of its obligations in the 2019
Loan Agreement (as amended or supplemented by the
2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement). Pursuant to the
Share Charge, the AGL will charge 20% of its share
interests in Agria Asia Investments Limited (“AAIL")
to the Group. AAIL is a company with limited liability
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is wholly-
owned by the Borrower.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. Related party transactions (Continued)
Transactions for the year (Continued)

(e) Loan to a related company (Continued)

AAIL is indirectly holding a share equity investment in
an agricultural enterprise in New Zealand through Agria
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (“Agria Singapore”), the only and
wholly-owned direct subsidiary of AAIL.

Save and except for the revision on the original interest
rate and the share charge by AGL, all other terms as set
out in the 2019 Loan Agreement remain unchanged.

Pursuant to a resolution passed in a special general
meeting on 12 August 2020, 2020 Supplemental Loan
Agreement was approved.

The annual caps of the maximum principal loan
outstanding for the financial years ended 31
December 2021 and period ending 31 July 2022 were
US$10,000,000 for each year/period.

The annual caps of the interest amounts for the financial
period from 1 January 2020 to 11 August 2020, period
from 12 August 2020 (assumed the effective date of
2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement) to 31 December
2020, year ended 31 December 2021 and period
ending 31 July 2022 were US$645,000, US$214,000,
US$550,000 and US$320,000 respectively (“Annual
Caps”). The 2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement,
Annual Caps of the principal loan outstanding and
interest amounts were approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the Company's special general meeting
on 12 August 2020.
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30. Related party transactions (Continued)
Transactions for the year (Continued)

(e) Loan to a related company (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the interest
income from AGL amounted to approximately
US$550,000 (equivalent to HK$4,293,000) (2020:
US$858,000 (equivalent to HK$6,685,000)).

As at 31 December 2021, the loan to AGL amounted
to US$10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$78,276,000)
(31 December 2020: US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$77,830,000)).

Note:

For the purpose of calculation of the historical figures and the
Annual Caps, the Effective Date of the 2020 Supplemental
Loan Agreement is assumed to be 12 August 2020, being the
expected date of fulfillment of the conditions precedent under
the 2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement.
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31. Statement of financial position and reserve

movement of the Company

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets

Prepayments and other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and bank balances

Total assets

EQUITY

Equity holders
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Other payables

Taxation payable

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the board of Directors on 25 March 2022 and

was signed on its behalf:
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Lai Fulin 38188

Director& %

31. AR AMBURARR R EE B

As at 31 December

Rt=—RA=t+—H
2021 2020
:g: — ﬂi — ? - ﬁ‘E'E
Note HK$’000 HK$ ‘000
g FET TFHET
2 24
90,440 90,440
90,442 90,464
1,586 481
52,740 40,297
3,507 2,078
57,833 42,856
148,275 133,320
26,645 26,645
(i) 116,552 101,544
143,197 128,189
3,315 2,412
1,700 -
63 2,719
5,078 5,131
148,275 133,320
52,755 37,725
143,197 128,189
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31. Statement of financial position and reserve
movement of the Company (Continued)

Note :

(i)  Reserve movement of the Company

31. AR AMBRAKRK HESEB

(&)
Hraz -

ADTEZ 2

Contributed  Share-based

Share surplus payment  Accumulated
premium (note) reserve deficits Total
MR A
BB RERY
RVEE i) e ) g
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET FET FET FET AT
At 1 January 2020 W=E-ZF-F-H 126,618 86,759 349 (114,100) 99,626
Profit for the year RERET - - - 1,984 1,984
Repurchase of shares and cancelled R (D Rt i (66) - - - (66)
Transfer upon lapse of share options R R R pER - - (349) 349 -
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZZZZFT-A=1-H
——4%-A-H 126,552 86,759 - (111,767) 101,544
Profit for the year ZWJ;/M‘ - - - 15,008 15,008
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-£+ZA=1-8 126,552 86,759 - (96,759) 116,552
Note: /}/91 I?E‘ .

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares issued by
the Company in exchange for all the issued ordinary shares of
World Trade Bun Kee (BVI) Ltd. and the value of net assets of
the underlying subsidiaries acquired by the Company in 2000.
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus is distributable to the shareholders, subject
to a solvency test. At the Group level, the contributed surplus
is reclassified into its component of reserves of the underlying
subsidiaries.
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32. Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures 32. EENRNEMER BREFBR

required by section 383 of the Hong Kong TEBI) (£622F) £383K K
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies (RRI(REBEEEFZER) RE)
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits (%8622GE) REA(LTRAD
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK BV E m/EH BV 15 58)
Listing Rules)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTHRAZMNE
The remuneration of each director and the chief BREERITRBENEE—_Z—F
executive for the year ended 31 December 2020 and FR-ZZFZ_—F+_A=+—H1Lt
2021 is set out below: FENHSET AT

Forthe year ended 31 December 2021
HE-ST-FtZR=t-RLEE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's sevices as a director, whether of the Company or s subsidiary undertaking

[rREE(FRRaA TR ENRATLR RERRTRNIRAAHE

Emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect

of director's

other service

in connetion

Remunerations  with the

Estimated ~ Employer's paid or  management

monetary  contributions  receivablein  of the affars

value 0 respectof ofthe

ofother retirement  accepting  Company or

Discretionary ~ Housing ~~ benefits henefit ~officeas  its subsidiary

Fees Sy bonuses  alowance (/) scheme  director  undertaking Total

HEERLT

EHENA

RS DENER

HEBAN B REES RisyEs

[GEREE  EBNBH RN AR
Name of Directors i34 (i B¢ BREL  BERE (L) HEZER GEMEE  aAMENE &g
o HI0 3 1A 1/ 11/ 1/ 41/ 411/
Lai Fulin (note () e ) - 1401 76 - (] ] S T I 1
Yu Ben Ansheng (note (ii) predliei(] - 2640 - - ] 1 - - 2%
Waong Yee Shuen, Wilson iR m - - - - - - - 0
Chen Wei Wen RE 150 - - - - - - - 150
Guan Zhigiang i m - - - - - - - ]
550 4041 76 0 3 140 103
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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32. Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures 32. EENRZNER RBREBEFB(A

required by section 383 of the Hong Kong THRH) (55622F) 383K K

Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies (REI(EEESFEER) RE)

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits (%£622GE) REA(LTRAD

of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK R EMmIEH B E) @)

Listing Rules) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTHARME @
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HETRTRETAt-HLEE
Emoluments paid or receiable n espect o  person'ssemce as & director, whether of the Company o it subsidary undertaing
[eRES(FARIATEENBARLS RERAR BN

Emolumens

paid or

Teceiatle

nespect

of drector’s

ofhersence

nconnecton

Remunerafons —~~ withthe

Esimated ~~ Employer's paidor  management

monetary  contbuions  receiablein  of the ffis

Vlue 08 respectof ofthe

ofother  refiement  accepting  Companyor

Discrefionary Housing benefts benefit  officeas it subsidary
fegs Saary bonuses—— dlowance (e scheme drector  undertaing Totdl

HEEEDA

LG/

i

BERN  BXH BB RiEMEs

HEvRE  RAEH ARG AR
NareofDiector EE3iEd (i Feoo BREL  REEE  fRm)  AEZ IRMOME  SmuaMe e
HS00 SO SO HSOD HSOW ST ASO A M
T Tt BT T TRt TERR TEr TEL TEr

Lai Fulin (note () et lRi) - 275 | - 0 18 - - 3065
Yu Ben Ansheng (note (i) R () - 160 - - 0 18 - - 2718
Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson iz m - - - - - - - 0
Chen Wei Wen REX 150 - - - - - - - 150
Guan Zhigiang i ]| - - - - - - . m

)| 5397 ] n % 6333
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:
(i) Mr. Lai Fulin is the Chairman of the Company.

(i)~ Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

(iii) Other benefits include share option and other allowance.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2020: Nil).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2020: Nil).

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Company did not pay consideration to any third parties
for making available directors’ services (2020: Nil).
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(c)
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s
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32. Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures

required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits

of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there is no
loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in
favour of the directors, or controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such directors (2020:
Nil).

(f) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 30, there are no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Company’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year
(2020: Nil).

33. Discontinued operation

In March 2021, the Group completed the disposal of the
entire equity interest in Guizhou Zhongguan Industry
Development Limited* (BN EEZZEREGR A F]), which
engaged biomass pellet fuel products business through its
66.7% equity interests owned subsidiary namely of Guizhou
Zhongguan New Energy Limited* (EMPEHEEREGHE A
A]). For the year ended 31 December 2021, the financial
results of the discontinued operation for the period up to the
completion of the disposal has been consolidated.
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32.

33.
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33. Discontinued operation (Continued) 33. RILEEBEXEK @)

RIEZBEXBNEERASREEERN
FabaRFaReRER W

The results and cash flows of the discontinued operation
included in the consolidated income statement and the
consolidated statement of cash flows are as follows:

<|} 7%

For the year ended 31 December

BZE+-—A=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTHF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FEr
Revenue A - 277
Cost of sales SHE A = (2,143)
Gross loss FEE = (1,866)
Other gains, net Hibas#48 = 15
Selling and distribution costs THE R AR (18) (73)
General and administrative expenses —MRITEE R (326) (1,323)
Provision for impairment of SREERNRERE
financial assets - (3,124)
Provision for impairment of property, Y% - BE MR ERERE
plant and equipment - (9,744)
Operating loss KRR (344) (16,115)
Finance income, net U N - -
Loss before income tax TAIE 18 (344) (16,115)
Tax credit IEE R - 307
Loss after income tax from discontinued #% |- &8 275 2 B2 518
operation (344) (15,808)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR Z M 692 -
Profit/(loss) for the period/year from RIEEEER BN,
discontinued operation FEwF (&) 348 (15,808)
Attributable to: HER
Equity holders of the Company AAREEREA 457 (10,560)
Non-controlling interests et (109) (5,248)
348 (15,808)
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33. Discontinued operation (Continued) 33. RILEEXEK @)
Analysis of the cash flows of discontinued operation is as RIPEBEB 2 RERAOTWT -
follow:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFET TH#T
Operating activities cash flows FEEB) 2 IRER (16) 94
Investing activities cash flows KEEB RSN - (202)
Financing activities cash flows MBS RSN - 84
(16) (24)
34. Disposal of subsidiaries 34. HEMB AT
Details of disposal of subsidiaries relating to discontinued BRAKIEEEER 2 HERNBRARFE
operation are as follow: GEHT
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_ZT-—F+-_A=+—HIFE
2021
—_E-—F
HK$°000
FET
Net assets disposed EHEFEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 & EH A EWGRIA 411
Inventories EN=S 66
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEFEY 48
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAER IR (5.327)
Net liabilities FRE (4,802)
Non-controlling interest FEPE GV A RS 3,275
(1,527)
Exchange reserve released B E 835
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary LERBA Rz WEE 692
Satisfied by: YT
Cash received PR -
Analysis of net cash inflow in respect BRAHENBARI RS REFEIN
of disposal of subsidiaries:
Cash received BEERE -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed BEHEZHeRASEED (48)
Net cash outflow in respect of disposal ~ BREIHEK B AT ZRE R F5E
of subsidiaries (48)
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35.

36.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Subsequent Events

After another wave of outbreak of Coronavirus Disease
2019 (“COVID-19 outbreak”) in early 2022, a series

B A e Wi

35. HiRE1|

RN-ZTE - —FYRE2019FEFEIRERE
([COVID-19%18 ) 1% + SHh[E B &I #%

of precautionary and control measures have been and BB — ZRVITER RIEHIEIE - A&

continued to be implemented across the region. The Group
will pay close attention to the development of the COVID-19

B = EECOVID-19Z BRI ERE
WEHAEHAEBP IR ME S EE

outbreak and evaluate its impact on the financial position M E NAZEEREEH  AEEW

and operating results of the Group. As at the date on which
this set of financial statements were authorised for issue, the

TNHECOVID- 19X BH I B RK B E
AEATHFE -

Group was not aware of any material adverse effects on the
financial statements as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries

Name Principal Activities
£ TEXK
Incorporated and operating in

Hong Kong
EERAUREE

Trading of construction materials,
mainly pipes and fittings in Hong
Kong

REBEERENH
(XFEREEREN 285

Bun Kee (International) Limited

Wi B BRAE

Provision of warehousing and logistic
services in Hong Kong

REERERR R

Hamerwind Logistic Company Limited
REMTERAT

Established and operating in Macao

R REE

Bun Kee Building Material and Equipment
(Macao) Co., Ltd.
WaR Rk (2P ARAR

Trading of construction materials,
mainly pipes and fittings in Macao

REFeERENH
(FEREEBREN 2B5

36. TEMBELATER

Percentage
BAlt

Particulars of issued and fully paid Attributable Held by
share capital/registered capital to the Group subsidiaries
ERTRBERE/EREA REEER WEAREE
100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each and 100 100

3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares

of HK$1 each
100REREE BT EARRE

3,000 000R EREAE1ETL ERF

ERTRN
800 ordinary shares of HK$100 each 100 100
800 B RA(E100ET L ERK
MOP50,000 100 100

50,0008
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Five-Year Financial Summary

T AR B R

Results

Revenue

Profit before income tax
Tax expense

Profit for the year

Profit for the year from
continuing operation

(Loss)/profit for the period/
year from discontinued
operation

Profit for the year

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the
Company

Non-controlling interests

Assets and liabilities

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total equity

Note:

The results of operation of biomass pellet fuel products (which was
discontinued in 2020) prior to 2019 have not been restated or reclassified.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED R BB X &EBAER L A

ES

YA

A A1)
MHIAZ H

ANEE i A
REZEXBZF
=yl
RIPEERBZ
N, FE
(&518) 5 H

RNEE i A

sy

1
//;

2
PAN/NE L
BEA
FEIRRGAERS

>

Zl

Bk

>

BERARE

REE

mafd

MofEm

Restated
=7
(Note)
(Hiat)
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—FtF T\ ZFTNF ZTITF —T--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FEIT FEIT FEIT FEIT FETT
650,461 538,155 527,552 497,295 682,187
84,174 29,472 13,083 33,485 72,336
(9,386) (4,621) (1,530) (2,773) (10,487)
74,788 24,851 - - -
- - 11,553 30,712 61,849
- - (7,123) (15,808) 348
74,788 24,851 4,430 14,904 62,197
74,945 26,015 6,790 20,152 62,306
(157) (1,164) (2,360) (5,248) (109)
74,788 24,851 4,430 14,904 62,197
671,953 672,880 795,370 815,732 907,853
(159,911) (131,447) (249,334) (254,510) (279,556)
512,042 541,433 546,036 561,222 628,297
EYEFNRBEREEER (RZTEZTFELR

FEE R ZE-NFURNEERERIIRED
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